The Perceived Threat of Aquatic Invasive Species: Exploring the Influence of Social Norms and the Social Perception of Threat on Public Attitudes Towards (Un)Controversial Scientific Issues

by

Richard James Heinrich

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

(Mass Communications)

at the

UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN-MADISON

2023

Date of final oral examination: 05/08/2023

The dissertation is approved by the following members of the Final Oral Committee: Michael Xenos, Professor, Life Sciences Communication Dominique Brossard, Professor and Chair, Life Sciences Communication Bret Shaw, Professor, Life Sciences Communication Young Mie Kim, Professor, Journalism and Mass Communication Dan Bolt, Professor, Educational Psychology

© Copyright by Richard James Heinrich 2023

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents, Richard and Judy Heinrich, and my stepmother, Denise Heinrich.

Acknowledgements

This dissertation is possible due to the support of many people, including my adviser, my committee, my family, and my friends.

First and foremost is my committee chair, Michael Xenos. Not only is Mike a highly influential scholar and exceptional researcher, but he is also an incredibly kind and compassionate person. He always finds a way to make the best of a less than ideal situation, while providing comprehensive and insightful feedback in a caring and thoughtful manner. For me, Mike was the ideal adviser, and I could not have asked for a better mentor.

I would also like to thank the members of my committee for their support, feedback, and understanding throughout my program. Dominique Brossard has been an advocate and role model since I entered the program, and her critiques and comments were always comprehensive, insightful, and immensely helpful. When I first started this program, I was extremely apprehensive about teaching, but it was Dominique's support and reassurance that helped me develop confidence in myself and find my "teaching voice." I also never particularly thought of myself as a "math person," however Dan Bolt has an exceptional ability to explain complex statistical information in an approachable and engaging manner. Taking his Test Construction course was a highlight of my program because of his unique ability to make dense, complicated, information fun and engaging.

I would also like to acknowledge Bret Shaw and his contributions to this dissertation. Not only did he generously provide the data that made this dissertation possible, but he also made himself frequently available for any questions I may have about invasive species or environmental management. If I had a regret in this program, it might be that I did not work with him earlier. And lastly, I would like to thank Young Mie Kim. Aside from my adviser, she has been a constant source of emotional and intellectual support during the many challenges I have faced throughout my program. I will always be grateful for the kindness, compassion, and support she has shown me.

In addition to my committee, I would also like to extend a special thanks to the Life Sciences Communication departmental staff, both current and former. Tera Holtz Wagner was an invaluable font of institutional knowledge, and I could always count on her to provide an accurate, prompt, answer to any question I may have had, whether it be program-related or teaching-related.

I would also like to thank my friend and former office mate, April Eichmeier. Though our acquaintance may have been incidental, I am thankful for it because she has been a continuous source of emotional support and am proud to call her a friend. I am forever grateful to have such a strong, intelligent, and compassionate woman as a friend. Additionally, I would like to thank Soo Yun Kim. It is a rare friend that will drop what they are doing to help one move apartments during a hot, humid, Wisconsin summer, but Soo Yun is that kind of friend. She is a kind spirit and compassionate soul. Whether it was a quick meetup after teaching, or dinner at our favorite Thai restaurant, she was always there to lend emotional support and give some much-needed advice. And lastly, I would like to thank my friend of over 23 years, Joanna Saddler. Joanna and I met in the 6th grade and have been close friends ever since. It is difficult to articulate what such a relationship means, so I will simply say that although we are not related by blood, I consider her my sister and I love her very much. This dissertation would not be possible without her, because without her I might not have made it through middle and high school. Although I owe my committee the biggest intellectual debt, it is to Joanna that I owe the biggest emotional debt.

Abstract

Using invasive species as the contextual background, this dissertation explores the social factors that influence how people make decisions about science issues. The main idea that underpins this dissertation is that effective science communication is contingent upon understanding the beliefs, values, attitudes, and norms of the general public. Without such an understanding, science communication is merely the dissemination of information. Moreover, understanding the psychological forces underpinning the public's attitudes towards science issues enables science communicators to craft more effective messaging, outreach efforts, or intervention strategies.

In Chapter 2, this dissertation explores factors that influence how lakeshore property owners in Wisconsin perceive chemical management of aquatic invasive species (AIS). In this chapter, psychosocial factors like emotion, trust, and perceived presence of AIS are explored as influences on homeowners' preferences for chemical management strategies. Understanding why homeowners may prefer to use chemical management strategies is particularly important given that these methods, while effective, could have unintended consequences for native plant and animal species.

In Chapter 3, this dissertation extends the findings from Chapter 2 by directly comparing the influence of the perceived presence of invasive species to the actual presence of invasive species in a homeowner's lake. Using natural resources data obtained from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, it is revealed that the actual presence of invasive species has no statistically significant influence on whether people prefer to use chemical treatment options. Rather, the perceived presence of AIS exerts the greatest influence on preference for chemical treatment. In Chapter 4, this dissertation discusses the role of social norms in shaping how people think about management of invasive species. Using data derived from a statewide survey of Wisconsin boaters and anglers, it is discovered that, across all dependent variables, social approval is one of the most significant factors influencing how people think about invasive species management and prevention.

Table of Contents

Dedicationi
Acknowledgementsii
Abstractiv
Table of Contents
List of Abbreviationsix
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
Threat Perception
Perceived Knowledge, Perceived Familiarity, and Actual Knowledge5
Social Norms and Social Identity
Rationale and Motivation
Preview of Chapters
Chapter 2: Lakeshore Property Owner Perceptions of Aquatic Invasive Species 12
Literature Review
Aquatic Invasive Plants and their impacts
Unintended consequences of chemical management
Values and AIS Management16
Political Ideology and Environmental Worldviews
Environmental values
Familiarity and Attitudes towards Aquatic Invasive Species
Negative Affect and Attitudes
Trust in science and scientists
Familiarity and management preferences

Data and Methods	28
Independent variables	29
Dependent variables:	31
Results	32
Discussion	34
Chapter 3: Perceived and Actual Knowledge of Aquatic Invasive Species	40
Literature Review	41
Management of Aquatic Invasive Species	41
Types of Knowledge: Perceived and Factual	43
Perceived threat of AIS	46
Attitudes towards Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS)	49
Data and Methods	52
Independent Variables:	53
Dependent Variables:	54
Results	54
Discussion	56
Chapter 4: Social Norms and Invasive Species Attitudes	58
Literature Review	60
Social Norms	60
Social norms and invasive species management	61
Social norms, environmental values, and identity	64
Political Ideology and environmental attitudes	67
Data and Methods	68

Independent Variables	69
Dependent Variables	71
Results	73
Discussion	79
Chapter 5: Conclusion	
Study Overviews	
Practical Implications	
Theoretical Implications	
References	
Appendix A: Standardized Regression Coefficients for Chapter 2	
Appendix B: Standardized Regression Coefficients for Chapter 3	125

List of Abbreviations

AIS	Aquatic Invasive Species
IS	Invasive Species
WDNR	Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

Chapter 1: Introduction

Despite what many in the general public might consider a relatively low-profile issue, invasive species pose a serious problem, both in the United States and globally. In North America, for instance, invasive species have been estimated to have cost the North American economy some \$1.26 trillion between 1960 and 2017, with annual costs estimated to have risen to \$26 billion per year in the 2010s (Crystal-Ornella et al., 2021). The United States had the highest recorded overall costs associated with invasive species, with \$1.21 trillion in economic output lost to invasive species from 1960-2017 (Crystal-Ornella et al., 2021). While many of these costs are agricultural (Leistritz, Bangsund & Hodur, 2004), others, such as the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) can cause economic damages by blocking intake pipes in power generation plants or water treatment facilities (Rosaen, Grover & Spencer, 2016). The United States Department of Agriculture has also noted that, while only a subset of introduced species become invasive, those that become invasive can cause significant economic damage (Warziniack et al., 2021) and costs associated with aquatic invasive species specifically were estimated to be about \$14.69 billion from 1960-2017 (Crystal-Ornella et al., 2021).

Additionally, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) released a report detailing the impacts of climate change on the spread of invasive species and the future risks to agriculture, biodiversity, and human health (IPPC Secretariat, 2021). In particular, the FAO notes that, as the climate warms in some areas and cools in other areas, these changes can have substantial impacts on the ability of invasive species to establish themselves in areas where they are not wanted and could pose significant risks to agricultural capacities, particularly in the developing world. At the same time, there is growing interest in the human and social dimensions of invasive species, with researchers increasingly interested in

understanding the ways in which individuals and communities perceive invasive species and how they feel about particular methods of control (e.g., Kueffler, 2010; Woolford et al., 2016; Eiswerth et al., 2011). Indeed, people's attitudes towards invasive species and their eradication are often informed by social factors, such as whether a particular methodology is convenient or easy for individuals or communities to employ (Aslan et al., 2009), or based on personal values or beliefs (e.g., Lake, 2009).

This dissertation further explores the social factors influencing decision making about invasive species among a hitherto understudied population: lakeshore property owners in the U.S. state of Wisconsin. Effective science communication hinges on a detailed and nuanced understanding of the various social factors and motivations informing people's decision-making on scientific issues. With a comprehensive level of such knowledge, science communicators are better able to craft detailed, salient, messaging and reach out to impacted communities more effectively. Indeed, the data upon which this dissertation is based is derived from such an effort, yet the implications of this research extend beyond state and local issues to science issues more broadly. Wisconsin lakeshore property owners are in an interesting, yet unfortunate, position with regards to invasive species in that they are not primarily responsible for the introduction or dissemination of invasive species throughout waterways in the state (Rothlisberger, Chadderton & McNulty, 2010; Witzling, Shaw & Seiler, 2016), yet they must deal with the consequences of invasive species introduced by others. Additionally, lakeshore property owners dealing with invasive species infestations must frequently engage in community decision making and collaborative group effort to effectively manage invasive species outbreaks. Indeed, the incentive to do so is significant, as invasive species have been found to significantly reduce property values (Horsch & Lewis, 2009; Johnson & Meder, 2013; Zhang & Boyle, 2010). Consequently,

community-based decision making can often be highly influenced by social factors like social norms and social identity, so this population represents an interesting context with which to study the social influences on environmental management decisions.

This dissertation threads together literatures on risk perception, environmental management, and social psychology to understand how people perceive and evaluate threats invasive species may pose, and what implications this may have as a result of a changing climate. The issue of invasive species represents a suitable avenue for this vein of inquiry because, as of yet, invasive species, unlike climate change, is not considered by many to be a politically contentious issue. Additionally, it also offers the opportunity to better understand how individuals make decisions in situations with relative uncertainty with regards to "best practices." Unlike COVID-19, for example, in which a series of mitigation recommendations are issued by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), what is considered a "best practice" for invasive species depends on the lake ecosystem, the type of invasive species being treated and, more pragmatically, money. Fluoridone for example, a common chemical used to treat invasive species, has been found to have initial success in reducing invasive species density though invasive species often reappear after several years, thus requiring further treatments that can have negative impacts on native plant species (Mikulyuk et al., 2020). Other research has found that some aquatic invasive species can develop a resistance to fluoridone (Gettys & Leon, 2021), suggesting a need for caution when considering these treatment types.

While some may argue that economic losses or scientific information demonstrating environmental harm is sufficient motivation for individuals to participate in invasive species control measures, I argue that, in fact, social factors are often *more* important than scientific facts when it comes to understanding human behavior. Indeed, there are often situations in which an

3

individual's perception of reality is more salient than the "on the ground" reality in terms of how people make decisions (explored in more depth in Chapter 2). In the sections below, I provide some background information on key concepts that I will argue are crucial to understanding how people make decisions about scientific issues more broadly, and invasive species management specifically.

Threat Perception

The degree to which individuals view something as a threat depends on a multitude of factors, many of them unrelated to the actual threat of the object itself. Personal experience, for example, frequently influences an individual's assessment of risk through the "availability heuristic," in which information that is more easily accessible weighs more heavily in decision making (Johnson, 1983). The framing of an issue (Putnam, 1992) can impact the degree to which people consider something a threat by interacting with an individual's pre-existing values, which can then shift over time (Ho, Brossard, & Scheufele, 2008). Additionally, factors completely exogenous to environmental threat can significantly alter how individuals perceive an invasive species. Research has demonstrated, for instance, that individuals tend to avoid potentially lethal or harsher treatments for invasive species that are more aesthetically pleasing (i.e., have a high "cuddliness factor") compared to those that are less aesthetically pleasing (Verbrugge, Van den Born & Lenders, 2013. Additionally, there is often a discrepancy between what the lay public believes about risks posed by invasive or non-native species and what environmental management professionals assess the risks to be (Selge & Fischer, 2011), suggesting that members of the public use different criteria to assess environmental threat than those who are more academically or scientifically trained to do so. Moreover, people may view invasive

species as a threat in an abstract sense, but not so immediate a threat that it warrants significant attention. A study of public attitudes towards invasive species in Cape Town, South Africa, for instance, revealed that, while most people believed that managing biological invasions was important, only 39% of people considered it to be a "high management priority" (Potgieter et al., 2019).

Perceived Knowledge, Perceived Familiarity, and Actual Knowledge

Due to necessary constraints (e.g., time, inclination, information accessibility) on one's ability to fully understand the scale and scope of a particular issue, one's understanding of a topic may be a mix of both perceived knowledge (also referred to as perceived familiarity) and actual, or measurable, knowledge. Scholars have argued that knowledge should not be construed as a single, broad, construct (e.g., Rose et al., 2019). For one, assessing an individual's level of knowledge often depends on the way in which it is assessed. Factual, or "textbook" knowledge of a topic is frequently assessed through a battery of questions on a given issue or scientific fact (i.e., Brossard & Shanahan, 2006; Johnson, 2003; Stoutenborough & Vedlitz, 2016). However, some scholars question whether this is the only conceptualization of knowledge given what people are exposed to in everyday life via the media. Brossard and Shanahan (2006), for instance, propose that assessments of knowledge that include themes or information prominent in media more accurately represent what individuals are "expected" to know about a given topic rather than what subject matter experts (e.g., scientists) think the lay public should know. Importantly, however, is research finding that perceived knowledge (or perceived familiarity) and factual knowledge have different correlates (Ladwig et al., 2012). For instance, television

use, and sex (i.e., being male) was a significant predictor of perceived familiarity with nanotechnology, but not factual knowledge of nanotechnology (Ladwig et al., 2012).

Factual, or textbook, knowledge is also less subject to social forces than perceived knowledge. For one, research has found that individuals can be quite overconfident in estimating their level of self-reported knowledge on a given topic (Banwart, 2007; Kruger & Dunning, 1999; Mabe & West, 1982; Malka et al., 2009). Indeed, the "Dunning-Kruger effect" was coined after discovering that individuals with higher levels of self-reported knowledge were more likely to have lower levels of factual knowledge of the same topic (Kruger & Dunning, 1999). When it comes to managing invasive species, understanding the differences between perceived knowledge and factual knowledge is an important part in understanding how people make decisions about methods of treatment. Ideally, one might hope that individuals would make decisions based only on what they know to be true rather than merely what they *think* to be true. In Chapter 3, I compare these perceptions with the "on the ground" reality of whether invasive species are present in an individual's lake in order to ascertain which type of knowledge exerts a stronger influence on preference for chemical management of invasive species.

Social Norms and Social Identity

Social norms have been referred to as, essentially, a set of informal rules that govern how an individual is expected to behave in a given social context (Sharif, 1936). Social norms serve many purposes in social settings, but one important function of social norms is that they serve to provide a "social template" that individuals can use to guide them in navigating more complex social behaviors. Moreover, social norms can convey information about how popular or unpopular certain behaviors are among a specific social group, and these perceptions of endorsement or sanction of behavior can influence how people make decisions. This subjective understanding of socially acceptable behavior is often referred to as a "perceived norm" (Lapinski & Rimmel, 2005). Injunctive norms, on the other hand, are beliefs about what individuals "ought to do" in a given situation (Cialdini, Reno, & Kallren, 1990), and are often contrasted with descriptive norms, which simply describe what is "commonly done" (Reno, Cialdini, & Kallgren, 1993). For example, in an educational setting (at least in the United States and many Western, industrialized, developed, countries) descriptive norms suggest that it is expected that students sit in desks while instructors stand at the front of the class. Injunctive norms for violating this expectation may include the belief that they will receive a reprimand from the instructor. When thinking about social norms, however, it is important to keep in mind that social norms are only as influential as an individual's desire to avoid social sanction. A student who does not care about receiving a reprimand or detention is unlikely to be phased by violating the social norm that students seat in desks and do not speak when the instructor is delivering lectures.

Descriptive and injunctive norms often align, but not always. For example, research on college alcohol consumption found that many college students perceive that their peers frequently drink alcohol (a descriptive norm) and that they may lose friendships if they do not drink alcohol (an injunctive norm) (Perkins & Berkowitz, 1986; Cox et al., 2019). Likewise, research on social norms has found they can influence how people approach environmental or land management issues. Sharing information about descriptive norms has been found to increase pro-environmental behavior (Farrow, Grolleau & Inbanez, 2017), while an individual's participation in an invasive species management program can be influenced by the desire to avoid social sanction via gossip (Curtis & Allen, 2010).

Norms, however, are not universal constructs. Individual communities can have norms that conflict with broader group norms, or individual families may have norms that do not align with their own community. However, people are linked through the values they hold (Abrams & Hogg, 1990), which is a key component of the social identity approach (SIA). Social identity can indeed influence behavior if the identity is salient enough for an individual. For example, some research has found that individuals who derive some sense of personal identity from driving a car are less likely to reduce the amount of driving they do (and thus reduce emissions) if their "car owner" identity is sufficiently salient (Stradling et al., 1999). Conversely, individuals who have a more salient "environmental identity" are more likely to be compliant with pro-environmental actions like reducing electricity usage (Van der Werff et al., 2011). Understanding social identity is important because how a person identifies can increase the salience of perceived social norms (Terry & Hogg, 1996). Therefore, the influence of social norms on behavior may be partially or completely attenuated by an individual's self-identification.

Rationale and Motivation

I have outlined above several significant factors that have been found to significantly impact how people approach invasive species specifically, but also science issues more generally. Two primary motivations guide this dissertation: an applied motivation and a theoretical one. In an applied sense, understanding how individuals think or perceive invasive species, and what social factors influence those thoughts or perceptions can lead to better management outcomes. Chemical treatments, for example, might be highly effective in some circumstances but are not risk free. Therefore, it would be in the public's best interest to understand what factors guide the decision to use potentially harmful chemicals, particularly given the extensive economic costs associated with invasive species outlined earlier (Crystal-Ornella et al., 2021; Leistritz, Bangsund & Hodur, 2004; Warziniack et al., 2021). Moreover, it is critically important for natural resources managers and government officials to view citizens as partners in management programs because doing so is more likely to build community trust, which can, in turn, result in more community funding or participation for management activities (Nguyen et al., 2020). This is particularly important given that some research has found that, while individuals are willing to coordinate with community members on invasive species management, they are much less willing to do so with government agencies or government officials (Clarke et al., 2019). Land managers, as scientific experts in invasive species and land management issues, must also recognize that lay individuals do not have the same level of expertise on these issues, but they have a certain level of knowledge about their own communities, properties, and situations about which outsiders are necessarily ignorant.

In a more theoretical sense, this dissertation is concerned with the process by which social factors influence how individuals make decisions about science more broadly. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, climate change is increasingly changing the native habitats of invasive species across the world (IPPC Secretariat, 2021). As climate change continues to shift the habitable landscape of invasive species, it is important to understand how individuals think and feel about invasive species so that effective mitigation and management strategies can be implemented, particularly those strategies that involve impacted communities. The treatment of invasive species is often a community-driven issue because individuals often have differing beliefs and values when it comes to the natural environment. For instance, many people value certain types of plants because they perceive them to be contributing to the "landscape character" of a particular place (Kendle & Rose, 2000), whether

these plants are native or invasive, and such people may be less likely to favor removal of particular plant species based on their individual values. Furthermore, research has found that individuals who move to rural areas for lifestyle reasons based on their perceived vision of "rural nature" often remove plants that do not comport with their idiosyncratic vision of nature (Lake, 2009). Consequently, it is critically important to understand these social factors driving perceptions of invasive species so mitigation strategies can be crafted that involve impacted communities and that value their active input and participation.

Preview of Chapters

As described above, I will argue that social factors like threat perception, social norms, and perceived knowledge are key components in understanding how individuals make decisions about science issues in which best practices are uncertain, while also discussing implications for politicized science and future directions for research.

In Chapter 2, I focus on factors influencing lakeshore property owner preferences for chemical management of aquatic invasive species (AIS). I argue that lakeshore property owners' preference for chemical management methods is primarily driven by social forces rather than scientific ones, specifically property owner's perception of AIS threat and negative emotions about invasive species in general. This chapter threads together literature on risk perception, trust in scientists, and the psychology of emotion to understand how these factors interact and influence individual decision making. I find that, contrary to previous research on the importance of trust, the most important factors in influencing Wisconsin lakeshore property owners preferences for chemical treatment was their assessment of the threat posed by AIS and their

negative feelings towards AIS. Moreover, I find that social conservatism, but not economic conservatism, was a significant predictor for preference for chemical treatment of AIS.

In Chapter 3, I use the same data from the previous chapter to explore in more depth the distinction between perceived and actual knowledge of AIS in order to compare which of these factors exerts a greater influence on lakeshore property owner preference for chemical management. Key to this chapter is the distinction between factual and perceived knowledge and to this effect I incorporate natural resources data provided by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources to the Statewide Parcel Map Initiative at the University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point (https://www.sco.wisc.edu/parcels/data/). In this study, I find that an individual's perceived presence of AIS exerts a far greater influence on whether they prefer chemical management than whether AIS are actually present in their lake. Specifically, I find that actual AIS presence is a significant predictor of preference for chemical treatment *only until* perceived presence is added into the regression model, after which actual presence becomes nonsignificant.

In Chapter 4, I explore the influence of social norms on recreational boaters and angler's attitudes towards invasive species management. Using a data set combined from surveys administered in 2018 and again in 2019, I find that, across all dependent variables, social approval is one of the strongest predictors. Social approval strongly influences whether individuals report following AIS prevention steps, whether they believe it is important to stop the spread of AIS, and their beliefs about how effective AIS prevention steps are at slowing the spread of AIS. In this chapter, I also compare perceived and actual knowledge of AIS laws, finding that, in some cases, an individual's perception of their knowledge of AIS laws is a stronger predictor of attitudes or behavior than their factual knowledge of these laws.

Chapter 2: Lakeshore Property Owner Perceptions of Aquatic Invasive Species

Lakeshore property owners are a significant stakeholder group in terms of management of invasive species, in part because they often some of the most impacted groups, dealing with potentially significant economic and ecological impacts of aquatic invasive species. Coordination among stakeholder groups, including individual homeowners who may have competing goals and interests, is therefore an important management goal. Indeed, property owners who opt not to "do their part" to manage an invasive species can increase costs of control efforts for neighboring property owners, even if the parcel of land they own or manage is small, because doing so could allow for invasive species to use these untreated areas as "invader propagule sources" (Epanchin-Niell et al., 2010). This problem could potentially be compounded given that private decision-makers (including homeowners) may "under control" invasions, compared to established management objectives, because they take into consideration their individual costs and benefits (Epanchin-Niell, 2017). In other words, if a homeowner does not perceive an invasive species to have a particularly negative impact on *their* plot of land, they may be inclined to do less than what is necessary if IS management activities become burdensome in terms of time and cost.

The current study seeks to fill a gap in the existing literature by exploring the perceptions of aquatic invasive species that lakeshore property owners in the state of Wisconsin (United States) have, and how they perceive the risks and benefits of common herbicide treatment strategies for managing AIS. This is particularly important given that the use of chemical management strategies to manage AIS could have unintended consequences, which may not be immediately evident to impacted communities. While transient boaters and anglers have been identified as the primary transporters of aquatic invasive species across Wisconsin lakes (Rothlisberger,

Chadderton & McNulty, 2010; Witzling, Shaw & Seiler, 2016), property owners are often the ones who are left dealing with the consequences of aquatic invasive species introductions on their lakes. Although lakeshore property owners may be aware of AIS on their lake, efforts to remove invasive species can be a diffuse, hard to manage activity often undertaken by a plethora of independent actors—these concurrent efforts can have cumulative effects on the lake ecosystem, resulting in a "commons dilemma", in which individual stakeholders act in accordance with their own self-interest rather than working together to reduce invasive species populations leading to a multitude of ineffective actions (Radomski & Goeman, 2001). Moreover, there is often a disconnect among lakeshore property owners between their beliefs about personal responsibility and sense of moral obligation to "do the right thing" regarding invasive species and behavioral intentions towards native aquatic plant protection (Schroeder & Fulton, 2013). This suggests that, while homeowners may believe that managing invasive species is the "right" thing to do, they may not know much about what actions they can take to further this goal. Moreover, effective management plans can often be coordinated, community-involved projects, which have their own unique challenges.

Unfortunately, despite effective interventions that can reduce the risk of transporting aquatic invasive species by transient anglers and boaters (Wallen & Kyle, 2018; Holden, Nyrop and Ellner, 2016; Venette et al., 2021), new and existing invasions still require management. Within the state of Wisconsin (USA) alone, Eurasian watermilfoil (*Myriophyllum spicatum*) has been observed in 864 lakes and rivers, while curly-leaf pondweed has been observed in 802 (WDNR, 2021). Wisconsin, according to the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR, 2009) has over 15,000 lakes, though approximately 60% of these are less than 10 acres and remain

unnamed. These plants are found in many more lakes and rivers across the Upper Midwest (USGS NAS, 2021).

Literature Review

Aquatic Invasive Plants and their impacts

Invasive species can have undesirable impacts on the ecosystems they inhabit, including large ecological impacts (Walsh et al., 2017), impacts on flood mitigation and climate regulation that the invaded environments provide (Pejchar & Mooney, 2009, Walsh et al., 2016), impacts on human health (Daou, 1998), and local ecology (Larkin et al., 2018). Eurasian watermilfoil has specifically been linked to decreases in lakefront property values (Horsch & Lewis, 2009; Johnson & Meder, 2013; Olden & Tamayo, 2014; Zhang & Boyle, 2010) and impacts to recreation (Horsch & Lewis, 2009; Eiswerth et al. 2000; Rothlisberger et al., 2010) due to its ability to create dense canopies in the lakes it inhabits (Madsen et al., 1991). Additionally, Eurasian watermilfoil has been found to negatively impact recreational qualities of lakes, such as fishing (Schultz & Dribble, 2012). Water hyacinth, another aquatic invasive plant, has posed considerable challenges to governments in California, Texas, and Florida by disrupting irrigation system and flood control systems (U.S. Department of State, 2001; Florida Fish and Wildlife Commission, 2019). In other words, the impacts of invasive species differ widely. So, too, does the way they are perceived by people.

As important as understanding the biology of a particular invasive species may be, scholars have stressed that one of the most important elements in managing the spread of invasive species is understanding the specific management problem (i.e., introduction pathways, or habitat management challenges) (Kueffler, 2013) as well as taking into account that biological invasions are driven by human factors (Kueffler, 2010). Additionally, in some cases, particular stakeholders' goals may compete with conservation goals, and people may be disinclined to go along with management strategies that conflict with these goals if they feel their concerns are not taken seriously (Woodford et al.,2016), or they may even deliberately hinder conservation efforts in some cases (Rotheram & Lambert, 2012). Other social elements influencing perceptions of invasive species include stakeholders' knowledge (Eiswerth et al., 2011), economic impacts (Osteen & Livingston, 2011; Shackelton et al., 2011), as well as cultural beliefs and values of communities in which invasive species may be found (Coates, 2011; Notzke, 2013). The perception of the risk posed by an invasive species has also been found to contribute to the actions individuals take to manage them (Requier et al., 2000). For example, stakeholders have been found to rely on personal assessments of risk and their own observations rather than scientifically informed recommendations in determining their behavior towards managing an invasive species (Requier et al., 2020).

Unintended consequences of chemical management

One challenge facing stakeholders in managing invasive species is that their unique physiology, reproduction patterns or growth patterns may mean that they cannot all be managed in the same way. For instance, fluoridone, a chemical commonly used to manage invasive plants was initially found to be successful in reducing the amount of Eurasian watermill foil, but also contributed to the decline of several native plant species as well and can have impacts on the life cycle of native fish, potentially undesirable side effects of using chemical treatments to manage invasive species (Crowell, Proulx & Welling, 2006). Other scholars studying the effects of fluoridone treatments found similar results, finding that invasive species often reappeared several

years after fluoridone treatments (Wagner et al., 2017). Because of the negative impacts some chemical treatments have on native plants, some researchers have questioned whether chemical control methods are worse for the environment than invasive plants themselves. A survey of 173 Wisconsin lakes found that lake wide treatment for Eurasian watermilfoil using chemical control methods resulted in 82% of lakes experiencing a decline in native aquatic plant populations. Interestingly, this study also found that Eurasian watermilfoil was, in some cases, positively associated with native plant species abundance, leading the researchers to suggest that Eurasian watermilfoil does not always act by displacing or outcompeting native plants the same way in every lake it inhabits (Mikulyuk et al., 2020). This finding has important implications for the management of invasive species because, if an invasive plant does not pose an immediate threat to native ecosystems, it might be more prudent for stakeholders to adopt a "wait and see" approach before proceeding with a chemical management strategy. In fact, Blossey (1999) notes that monitoring the development of an invasive species in a lake before, during and after both invasion and treatment can lead to more comprehensively informed policies for managing invasive plants. Due to the ways in which invasive species can negatively impact their surrounding environments by decreasing desirable lake qualities like water clarity and the quality of the lake for fishing, I propose the following hypothesis:

H1: The more lakeshore property owners perceive aquatic invasive species will have a negative impact on their lake, the more they prefer chemical treatment.

Values and AIS Management

Due to the differential impact invasive plants can have on different communities, some of which can be severe, researchers have sought to study the perceptions of individuals living in communities impacted by invasive species. Some non-native species have an economic benefit. The honeybee, for instance, was unknown to the Americas before it was introduced in the 17th century (Hardy, 2016). However, not all non-native species provide an economic benefit to the ecosystems they inhabit, and people generally favor the eradication of invasive species if they are perceived to be economically disadvantageous. In fact, individuals may be motivated to downplay the risk of an invasive species if they perceive that species to have some desirable quality (Humair, Kueffer & Siegrist, 2014). Depending on an individual's values, they may be more likely to support harsher management practices, like the application of chemical herbicides, as long as clear progress is being made to remove the problematic invasive species (Gobster, 2011). Attitudes on AIS and perceptions of their risk may influence aquatic plant management actions by lake stakeholders as well. In a 2007 survey of attitudes towards invasive species in Scotland, researchers found that between 73% and 84% of respondents favored the eradication of invasive species (Bremner & Park, 2007).

Results like these can illustrate the need for a more cautious, evidence-based approach to managing invasive species, given that an aggressive treatment regime is not necessarily appropriate every time an invasive species is found in a lake or waterway. While the authors found that not as many people favored the complete eradication of *all* invasive, non-native species, these species are often perceived negatively due to the potential negative impacts they have on surrounding ecosystems. Considering some research (e.g., Mikulyuk et al., 2020) suggests chemical treatment may have unintended negative consequences for other native aquatic lake life, and that AIS are rarely present in highly abundant levels (Hansen et al., 2013), decision makers should also consider alternative methods to chemical treatment. In fact,

individuals who are more familiar with invasive plants have been found to be more likely to favor less lethal management strategies (Japeji & colleagues, 2019). Relevant stakeholders, therefore, have an interest in managing these invasives, particularly those that are economically disadvantageous.

Because it is difficult for communities to manage invasive species on their own, partnerships with local and state government institutions are often necessary, not only to secure the relevant permits to conduct management protocols on a particular lake, but also to ensure effective treatment. Stakeholders who believe they are cut out of the decision-making process could feel a lack of institutional trust, leading to a disinclination to participate in any sort of outreach, education, or management efforts by local governments (Mackenzie & Larson, 2010). Because increased levels of trust have been found to be negatively related to risk perception of technological, societal, or natural hazards (Siegrist, Gutscher, & Earle, 2005), homeowners with higher levels of trust in government officials may be more inclined to adopt a monitoring approach to managing invasive species if such an approach is the recommended strategy to manage invasive species in that location. They may view invasive species as less risky or threatening and have confidence that the relevant authorities will make good decisions related to issues such as the management of AIS on their lake.

Furthermore, organizations that prioritize building trust with local communities can establish effective working relationships, even if organizational and community values do not always align (Leahy & Anderson, 2008). However, the ways in which invasive species are framed could also impact how individuals view treatment of invasive species. Framing, how information is packaged or presented (Putnam, 1992), may also significantly impact an individual's perception of risk by interacting with an individual's pre-existing value dispositions to shift attitudes over

time (Ho, Brossard, & Scheufele, 2008). How invasive species are framed in news media has also been found to impact behavioral intentions towards AIS management (Hart & Larson, 2014; Wallen & Kyle, 2018) by increasing the perception of risk of an invasive species, as well as the actions people take to learn more about invasive species (Shaw, Campbell & Radler, 2021).

The management of invasive species can pose a challenge to both government agencies and local communities., Therefore, it is important to understand the ways people approach the management of invasive species. For example, Aslan and colleagues (2009) found that, when it comes to treatment methods for invasive species identified on their land, many ranchers in California could be described as "satisficers"—finding a handful of control methods that work sufficiently and sticking to them, while not devoting more time to considering alternative management strategies. Other scholars found that some landowners simply did not want to spend much time dealing with invasive plants, preferring to administer a treatment and then move on (Aslan, 2009; Head et al., 2015). In fact, attitudes towards managing invasive species can often involve factors far removed from environmental impacts of the species themselves, such as the belief systems or value dispositions of the property owners.

Political Ideology and Environmental Worldviews

While the above research has shown that individual values can have an influence on a person's attitude towards nature and the environment, political ideology has also been demonstrated to influence environmental attitudes as well. For example, research has shown that liberals tend to score more highly on measures of environmental concern than conservatives (Cruz, 2017) and has been shown to be correlated with responsible environmental behavior (Cottrell, 2003). Moreover, political ideology has been found to influence attitudes towards

scientific topics like conservation (Coffey & Joseph, 2012). Pro-environment behaviors, such as recycling, the boycotting of environmentally unfriendly companies, and conservation behaviors have been linked to an individual's values (Mainieri et al., 1997; Stolle, Hooghe & Micheletti, 2005). Other research has found that political ideology can also influence support for conservation efforts, like laws designed to protect endangered species (Czech and Borkhataria 2001). The role of political ideology on trust in science is a topic of much debate. Some research has found that conservatives tend to have a greater distrust of science than liberals, particularly with regards to topics like climate change, attitudes towards energy efficiency, and overall attitudes towards environmentalism in general (Gauchat, 2012; Lewandowsky & Oberauer, 2017; Gromet, Kunreuther & Larrick, 2013; Dunlap, Xiao & McCright, 2001).

Other studies, however, have found that differences in partisan trust in the scientific community is more nuanced. For instance, Krause and colleagues (2019) point out that an increase in individuals identifying as Independents, coupled with increases in the gap in trust in scientists between religious and non-religious individuals, and between urban and rural residents might account for some of the relationship between conservatism and skepticism towards science. In other words, traditional notions of conservatives as opposed to science may be more driven by divides in strength of religiosity and geographic location rather than political ideology alone. Still, trust in scientists remains quite high, and has remained so even for controversial topics like global warming and nuclear energy (Krause et al., 2019). Although invasive species as a general science issue (there is, however, much debate over the various *solutions* to the spread of invasive species) may not be controversial in the same way that climate change, vaccines, or GMOs are, there is some evidence that skepticism of the scientific consensus on invasive species is growing, increasing uncertainty among the public on this issue (Russell &

Blackburn, 2017). Still, support for invasive species management is high in some populations (Bremner & Park, 2007), particularly among stakeholders who are primarily impacted by invasive species (Oxley, Waliczek, & Williamson, 2016).

One explanation, some scholars suggest, for this difference in partisan trust could be that environmental appeals tend to be framed in ways that are more appealing to political liberals (Feinberg & Willer, 2013) and that the frames used in this messaging may not be highly appealing to political conservatives as it relies more strongly on notions of care and harm (Graham et al., 2013; Clayton, Koehn, & Grover, 2013). When environmental issues are framed in a way that are more likely to resonate with conservatives (i.e., by emphasizing loyalty, patriotism, authority, or personal responsibility) political conservatives and political liberals had roughly equivalent levels of pro-environmental attitudes (Wolsko, 2017). There is currently little research on the impact of political ideology on attitudes towards invasive species management strategies. However, because political ideology has been shown to influence environmental attitudes (Gromet, Kunreuther, & Larrick, 2013), attitudes towards environmental issues like climate change (Kellstedt, Zahran & Vedlitz, 2008), and influences trust in sources of scientific information about the environment (Brewer & Ley, 2013), the following hypothesis are proposed:

H2: There is a positive relationship between political ideology and chemical treatment preferences among lakeshore homeowners, such that conservatives are more likely to prefer chemical treatment than liberals.

Environmental values

Kendle and Rose (2000) discussed how many people perceive native plants to being essential to defining the "landscape character" of a particular region and, while this is true to some extent, many non-native species manage to integrate well with local ecosystems, with some even having beneficial effects (Ewel et al., 1999). For example, non-native tamarisk trees provide shelter to native Willow Flycatcher (*Empidonax traillii extimus*) in the Southwestern United States, while other non-native species can serve as substitutes for extinct native species (Schlaepfer, Sax & Olden, 2011). Moreover, non-native plants can also serve as protective habitats for native waterfowl (Hershner & Havens, 2008). Despite the benefits some non-native species may provide, however, an individual's environmental values often influence how they perceive non-native species (Lake, 2009). For example, some individuals who moved to rural areas for lifestyle reasons made decisions about managing invasive species, in part, based on what their perceived vision of "rural nature" was, sometimes removing native plants that did not accord with that vision while keeping invasives that did (Lake, 2009).

Other researchers have discussed the role that value predispositions play in how people perceive invasive species (Fischer et al., 2011). Perceptions of the relationship between humans and nature play a role in people's attitudes towards managing invasive species, often influenced by factors that have little to do with the environmental impact of the species themselves. For example, individuals' attitudes towards treating a lake with chemical pesticides differed depending on the "cuddliness factor" of the various invasives present in the lake: while respondents generally avoided the use of pesticides in aquatic environments due to potential impacts on more aesthetically pleasing mammals, exceptions were made for undesirable, less "cuddly", insect species (Verbrugge, Van den Born & Lenders, 2013). Additionally, individuals who had a "pristine" vision of nature, perceived higher risk of invasive species.

Familiarity and Attitudes towards Aquatic Invasive Species

Although invasive species have been identified as a threat to native plants and wildlife, there is often a disconnect between expert and lay attitudes towards invasive species. Several studies have identified the importance of understanding an individual's attitudes towards environmental issues as important components of the management of invasive species (Bremner & Park, 2007; Jetter & Paine, 2004). Research on familiarity with AIS among lakeshore property owners has found that individuals who are college educated, own boats, and enjoy lake-related recreational activities are more likely to be aware of the potential environmental harm caused by AIS compared to those who do not enjoy lake-related recreational activities (Eisworth, 2011). Other research has found that familiarity with the impacts of invasive animals, like fish, tends to be higher than familiarity with the impacts of invasive plants (Nanayakkara et al., 2018). While scholars have found that AIS knowledge tends to the positively related to an individual's adopting behaviors that help prevent the spread of AIS, (Gates et al., 2009), other research has found that higher levels of knowledge of AIS does not necessarily translate into compliance with management recommendations (Witzling et al., 2016). Individuals who live on a lake may be more likely to dock their boats on their own property and use their own lake for recreational purposes rather than travel to other lakes. Despite this, lakeshore property owners often must deal with the consequences of aquatic invasive species, which can be financially burdensome (e.g., Zhang & Boyle, 2010). Furthermore, research has also found that lakeshore property

owners tend to be more motivated by personal benefit rather than environmental concerns when thinking about managing AIS on their lakes (Schroeder & Fulton, 2013).

Attitudes towards AIS management strategies

Although it has been well documented that invasive species can have a negative impact on local ecosystems, it is also evident that factors that go beyond the biology of an invasive species play clear, significant, roles in determining whether people are willing to aid in management efforts and, consequently, contribute to the spread or decline of an invasive species population. For instance, one of the main barriers to reducing or controlling the spread of invasives among individuals having expressed concern about them was a lack of information on management approaches (Ansong & Pickering, 2015). For example, while visitors to parks expressed concerns about the impact of invasive weeds on the park ecosystem, they often disposed of seeds found on their person in a way that would contribute to the spread, not the management, of these invasive weeds (Ansong & Pickering, 2015). Due to the ways in which familiarity with an invasive species can impact attitudes towards their management, the following hypothesis is proposed:

H3: The more familiar lakeshore property owners are with invasive species, the more likely they are to prefer chemical treatment.

Negative Affect and Attitudes

Studies in human behavior have found that the threat of undesirable risks, especially those that can trigger negative emotions like frustration or anger, can influence human behavior (Loewenstein & Lerner, 2003; Sunstein & Zeckhauser 2000). Additionally, some research

suggests that when individuals use more emotionally laden phrases to describe an invasive species, it is linked to the perception that it is a more immediate, tangible threat (Cottet et al., 2015). Interactions with nature can also contribute both positively and negatively to the emotions an individual feels. For instance, positive interactions with wildlife influenced a feeling of "wonder" in some respondents (Schänzel & McIntosh, 2000). Negative interactions, too, can influence an individual's attitudes and behaviors towards wildlife. For example, individuals who reported feelings of anger towards house sparrows were more likely to favor lethal management methods than those who felt positively about house sparrows (Larson, Cooper & Hauber, 2016). Like interactions with wildlife, positive or negative interactions with management officials may contribute to the way individuals perceive invasive species management. Because invasive species management is a collective effort, it is important that individuals trust those involved in AIS management decisions.

Trust in science and scientists

For a particular management strategy to be effective, coordination between local government officials and impacted stakeholders must be present: those impacted by invasive species must be able to trust that something will be done and that their partnership is valued. In another context, it has been established that individuals reporting higher levels of general trust reduced perceived risks of technologies like genetically modified foods and medical x-rays (Siegrist, Gutscher & Earle, 2005). In an invasive species context, homeowners with higher levels of trust in local government officials may be more inclined to consider recommendations about managing invasive species, such as monitoring whether the species are spreading in a manner that poses real threats to the ecological integrity of their lake and avoid using chemicals that may harm
native plants that are present. Additionally, individuals tend to be more supportive of management activities they can take part in directly, even favoring more funding for activities like community invasive pulls and native species planting (Nguyen et al., 2020).

Being able to take part in invasive species management decisions could help give important stakeholder groups a sense of having some agency and a voice in issues that impact their community, serving to build trust between stakeholders and decision makers. However, other research with property owners has found that while awareness and knowledge of invasive species is moderate, interest in coordinating with government officials on invasive species management is low. For example, a study of family farm owners in the United States (FFOs) found that, while these individuals were likely to take initiative in inspecting their properties for invasive species, coordinating with friends, other families, or other FFOs on the removal of invasive species, or removing invasive species themselves, many expressed little to no experience or interest in partnering with government officials on invasive species issues (Clarke et al., 2019). A study on public attitudes towards invasive species management and trust in management officials in Guam found that individuals who expressed greater confidence in the ability of officials to effectively manage invasive species were more supportive of management activities, had greater interest in management initiatives, and an increased desire to participate in invasive species management compared to those with lower levels of trust (Wald et al., 2019). Although this study sheds light on *public* attitudes about invasive species management and trust, managing invasive species in waterways and on land are often different processes and there may be significant differences in attitudes between lakeshore property owners and other types of property owners. Because the attitudes of lakeshore property owners, specifically, have received relatively less attention in the academic literature, the following research question is proposed:

26

RQ1: What is the relationship between trust in scientists and an individual's preference for chemical management of invasive species?

Familiarity and management preferences

Personal experience has long been described as contributing to layperson assessment of risks, including through the "availability heuristic," where examples that are more mentally accessible are weighted more heavily when constructing attitudes (Johnson, 1983). With regards to invasive species, individuals are often less familiar with invasive plants than they are with invasive animals or fish (Nanayakkara et al., 2018), suggesting that attitudes about invasive plants may be, in part, influenced by attitudes towards other invasives more broadly. It seems likely that familiarity with AIS is a prerequisite for forming an opinion about how to manage them, but potentially more familiarity with AIS could also mean that AIS are perceived as more threatening and the more threatening the AIS appears to be, the more negative the emotional reaction is to it. Given that individuals are unlikely to view invasive animals and invasive plants the same way (Nanayakkara et al., 2018), individuals who have invasive plants on their properties may be more likely to engage in chemical control measures compared to those with invasive animals, which are often associated with more humanistic values (Fitzgerald, Fitzgerald, & Davidson, 2007).

Although invasive species may not be a topic that is highly emotionally salient for many people, negative emotions surrounding invasive species could be an effect of the way they are presented in outreach materials, campaigns, or the media (Otieno et al., 2014). Due to the potentially negative consequences associated with invasive species, it may, however, be a salient issue for lakeshore property owners. Consequently, it is important to explore the impact of emotions on preferences for chemical treatment of AIS, the application of which could have unintended environmental consequences, leading us to propose the following hypothesis:

H4: The more negatively about AIS a lakeshore homeowner feels, the more they will favor chemical treatment options to manage them.

Data and Methods

A survey was developed to assess lakeshore owners' attitudes towards various AIS management approaches. The University of Wisconsin-Madison's Survey Center (UWSC) administered the paper mail survey using the Dillman (Dillman, Smyth & Christian, 2014) method, where the survey, a description of the study, and a self-addressed, stamped envelope were mailed with a reminder sent several weeks later to a sample of 1200 individuals identified through public records as owning a lakeshore property in Wisconsin, USA. The original data set, provided by the Statewide Parcel Map Initiative at the University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point (https://www.sco.wisc.edu/parcels/data/), used surface water layer data from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources to match individuals identified as owning a property on a Wisconsin lake with a specific water body identification code (WBIC).

After this initial data set was compiled, properties identified as belonging to businesses, organizations, or other non-individual entities were removed from the sampling frame. Furthermore, natural resources data, which indicates whether a particular water body was identified as having an invasive species and, if so, which specific invasive species, was obtained by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources and merged with the Statewide Parcel Map Initiative data based on the WBIC. After the final sampling frame was identified, a \$1 incentive was included in the mailing of each survey as an indication of appreciation for the participant's time. Four individuals contacted the research team to notify them that they no longer owned the property and were removed from response rate calculations. The response rate was 63% (as calculated with the AAPOR Outcome Rate Calculator Version 4.0). This research was approved for human research subjects by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Wisconsin-Madison.

Independent variables

Sample demographics. The sample was mostly White (92.5%), with an average age of 65 years (*SD* = 11.36). With regards to gender, the sample was mostly male (66.9%). Regarding level of education, few participants (.7%) completed some high school, 13.2% completed high school or received a GED, 27% had some college, technical, or trade school education, 31.4% completed a four-year college with a bachelor's degree and 27.8% completed a graduate or professional degree. Politically, on economic issues, 3.2% of participants described themselves as "very liberal," 8.2% as "somewhat liberal," 25.9% as "moderate," 28% as "somewhat conservative", 29.7% as "very conservative" and 5% of respondents reported they "don't know". With regards to social issues, 10.3% described themselves as "very liberal," 17.9% as "somewhat liberal," 27.6% as "moderate," 20.9% as "somewhat conservative" and 18.1% as "very conservative," with 5.2% reporting they "don't know."

Political ideology: Two questions assessed an individual's position on economic and social issues. The first question, which asked individuals to rate their level of conservatism or liberalism on economic issues (M = 3.88, SD = 1.17) asked, "In terms of economic issues, would you say that you are...", and asked individuals to rate their level of economic conservatism (M = 3.34, SD = 1.37) on a scale ranging from 1 (Very Liberal) to 5 (Very Conservative). The second

question asked participants "In terms of social issues, would you say that you are..." and asked participants to rate themselves on the same 5-point Likert scale.

Perceived Familiarity: Perceived familiarity was measured (M = 3.12, SD = .88) by combining and averaging responses to three survey questions: (1) "How much have you heard about aquatic invasive species?", (2) "How familiar are you with ways to prevent the spread of invasive species?", and (3) "How familiar are you with ways to manage invasive species once present?". Each question was measured on a 5-point scale. The response options for the first item were "Nothing at all," "A little," "Some," "Quite a bit" and "A great deal," while the response options for the remaining two questions were "Not at all familiar," "A little familiar," "Somewhat familiar", "Very familiar" and "Extremely familiar". Cronbach's alpha coefficient, which measures the consistency of items that comprise a variable, was used to measure the reliability of this three-item scale and was calculated to be .82. A minimum coefficient of .70 is generally considered to be acceptable (Rovai et al. 2014).

Perception of AIS presence in lake. This item measured a participant's perception of the presence of aquatic invasive species in their lake. The question asked respondents "To your knowledge, does your lake currently have any invasive plants?" with response options "Yes," "No" and "Don't Know." If participants selected either of the latter two options, they were directed to skip to the next set of questions. For analysis purposes, this question was transformed into a dummy variable with the reference group being participants who selected the "Don't Know" option. About half (51.6%) of respondents perceived AIS in their lake, with 16.4% perceiving no AIS and 32% of respondents reported they "don't know" whether their lake has AIS or not. The "don't know" group was chosen as the reference group based on the assumption

that there are differences with regards to treatment approaches between people who perceive AIS and their lake and those who do not.

Trust. The trust variable (M = 5.65, SD = 1.40) was created by averaging responses to two questions that measured a participant's level of trust in scientists. The first question asked, "How much do you trust university staff and scientists?," while the second question asked, "How much do you trust Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources staff and scientists?". Both questions were measured on a 7-point Likert scale, with response options "Strongly distrust", "Moderately distrust", "Slightly distrust", "Neither trust nor distrust", "Slightly trust", "Moderately trust" and "Strongly trust". Because this scale consisted of two items, the Spearman-Brown coefficient, which is commonly used to calculate reliability for two-item scales, (Eisinga, Te Grotenhuis, & Pelzer 2013) was calculated to be .85.

Negative Affect. Negative affect was assessed with three survey items, all part of the same question stem which read "When you think about preventing or managing invasive plants on your lake, how strongly do you feel any of the following emotions, if at all?." The 5-point options were "Not at all", "Slightly", "Somewhat", "Very" and "Extremely". The emotions used to create the negative affect scale included "Angry," "Sad" and "Frustrated." The responses to these items were averaged to form the scale (M = 2.29, SD = 1.09) and the Cronbach's alpha was calculated to be .87.

Dependent variables:

Preference for chemical treatment: A participant's preference for chemical treatment of AIS was measured using two items from the survey, which were combined and averaged into a scale (M = 3.00, SD = 1.20). The first survey item asked participants to rate their perception of

the risks and benefits of the chemical approach to managing AIS on a 5-point scale ranging from "Risks greatly outweigh the benefits" to "Benefits greatly outweigh the risks". The second survey item asked respondents to rate their agreement with the statement "If an herbicide can temporarily reduce the amount of an invasive plant in a lake, it is worth using" on a 5-point scale ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree". The Spearman-Brown reliability coefficient for this scale was found to be .80.

To examine the research questions and hypotheses, hierarchical ordinary least squares (OLS) regression was used to test the relationship between independent and dependent variables by fitting a linear model to the date. Independent variables were entered in blocks according to their assumed causal order. The initial regression model started with Block 1, which only included demographics variables. Block 2 included social and economic political ideology variables. Block 3 was perceived familiarity with invasive species. Block 4 included perceived presence of invasive species on the participant's lake. Block 5 included a scale measuring trust in scientists. Block 6 included a scale measuring negative affect (emotions).

Results

H1 suggested that the perceived impacts of AIS would be positively correlated with preference for using chemical treatment methods. Support for this hypothesis was not found in the final model, as the perceived AIS impact variable was not significant at the p < .05 level, (B =-.022, p >.05). With regards to political ideology (H2), social conservatism (B = .153, p < .01) was related to preference for chemical treatment, but not economic conservatism. However, there is a trend with economic ideology that trends towards significance, such that individuals who are more economically conservative may be more inclined to support chemical treatment.

	Zero Order	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Block 1 - Demographics	conclutions						
Age	.006	.010	.008*	.008	.007	.007	.006
Education	.061	.044	.091	.078	.053	.052	.061
Incremental R2 (%)		.009					
Block 2 – Political Orientation							
Ideology - Social	.153*		.169**	.169**	.145**	.146**	.153**
Ideology- Economic	.082		.059	.059	.070	.072	.082
Incremental R2 (%)			.044***				
Block 3 – Familiarity							
Perceived AIS Familiarity	.085*			.196***	.090	.089	.085
Incremental R2 (%)				.020***			
Block 4 – Perception of AIS in Lake							
Perceived AIS Impact	022				040	039	022
AIS in Lake $=$ Yes	.673***				.782***	.781***	.673***
AIS in Lake = Don't Know	.216*				.249	.250	.216
Incremental R2 (%)					.065***		
Block 5 - Trust							
Trust in Scientists	.017					.008	.017
Incremental R2 (%)						.000	
Block 6 - Emotions							
Negative Affect	.049***						.049**
Incremental R2 (%)							.015***
Total adjusted R2 (%)							13.9
* = (05 * * = (01 * * * D + 001)							

Table 1: Hierarchical Multiple regression model predicting support for chemical treatment approach (unstandardized coefficients)

*p<.05, ** p<.01 *** P<.001

The third hypothesis (H3), which suggested that familiarity with AIS would also be positively associated with preferences for chemical management strategies was similarly not supported. A non-significant result for trust in scientists (RQ1) was also found. While previous research has demonstrated a relationship between trust and AIS management behavior, these results suggest that the preference for chemical treatment appeared to be primarily driven by negative emotions towards AIS.

The fourth hypothesis (H4), that greater negative affect predicts chemical treatment attitudes while controlling for demographics (age, education), political ideology, trust in scientists, and familiarity with invasive species, however, was supported (B = .049, p < .01), suggesting that the more negatively a person feels towards AIS, the more likely they are to support chemical management strategies. Compared to people who did not perceive their lake currently had AIS, people who perceived their lake had AIS were also more likely to support chemical management strategies.

Discussion

The results of our study suggest that Wisconsin lakeshore owners' negative feelings about aquatic invasive species serve as a main driver in influencing preferences for chemical AIS management approaches. One implication of this finding is that natural resources managers creating AIS outreach materials should avoid sensational language, which has been associated with an increase in negative emotions (Otieno et al., 2014). Although it may be tempting to create attention-grabbing messages in a media environment characterized by competition for attention, sensationalized framing has not been found to perform better than more straightforward, science-focused framing (Shaw, Campbell & Radler, 2021). Negative affect, which included anger, sadness, and frustration, was statistically significant in our model after controlling for other potential factors, suggesting that when individuals feel negatively about an invasive species, they have a strong desire to remove them from their lakes and an increased willingness to use chemical management strategies. It is possible that this might be the result of some spillover effects of outreach campaigns aimed at transient anglers or boaters, which may use sensational messages. These messages may also reach lakeshore property owners, amplify their perception of risk, and exacerbate negative emotions influencing them to support chemical treatment options to eradicate an AIS from their lake. Although lakeshore property owners may not themselves be transient anglers or boaters who are spreading AIS, they may nevertheless still be exposed to these materials at community meetings, signage at boat landings, lake association meetings, print or online newsletters, online information, or bait shops.

This suggests a need for a more tailored communications approach targeting the diverse needs of these two distinct groups of stakeholders which has also been suggested elsewhere (i.e., Witzling, Shaw & Seiler, 2016). While transient anglers and boaters may be primarily responsible for the spread of AIS, the homeowners living on these lakes must deal with the consequences. At the same time, however, it is important to recognize the unintended consequences of chemical treatments, like the application of herbicides, can have on the lake ecosystem. Lake associations may have good intentions by using herbicides to prevent the spread of aquatic invasive species but may not be aware that some chemical treatments may harm indigenous plants and pave the way for regrowth of AIS at the expense of native plant species. A statistically significant effect of familiarity with AIS on preference for chemical treatment was not found, suggesting that increasing homeowner's familiarity with invasive species may not have a significant impact on their willingness to use chemical applications to manage invasive species. Instead, it seems more prudent for lake managers to work more closely with lakeshore

property owners on the development and implementation of management strategies, given that community involvement can have a significant impact on support and participation in these programs (Nguyen et al., 2020). Additionally, an individual's perceived level of familiarity with aquatic invasive species did not significantly influence their attitudes towards preferring chemical management. suggesting that educational campaigns aimed at helping property owners identify and prevent the spread of invasive species can coexist with efforts to promote evidencebased management strategies. Moreover, lake managers may also consider stressing the importance of a monitoring approach as a viable management strategy, given that invasive species may not be present in quantities that warrant chemical application.

Future research should more closely examine the attitudes and behaviors of lakeshore property owners as an important stakeholder group and influential partner of community or governmental organizations in the management of invasive species. Furthermore, outreach campaigns that focus only on increasing knowledge of AIS are not likely to be effective, as multiple factors can influence adherence to management recommendations (Koob & McGuire, 2013). Factors such as the inability to remember campaign messaging or the use of overly complex, technical, language could hinder the ability to effectively communicate with relevant stakeholders (Seekamp et al., 2016; Koob & McGuire, 2013). If lake managers and other decision makers understand what sorts of strategies lakeshore property owners prefer, which they regularly use, and their perceptions of the effectiveness of various management approaches, more comprehensive outreach strategies could be tailored towards these specific needs. Moreover, while agency-led and research-driven invasive species surveillance programs detected the highest percentage of new invasives, independent sources, such as homeowners or farm operators, also contributed significantly to the detection of new invasive pests (Epanchin-Niell, Thompson, & Treakle 2021). This suggests that growing partnerships between agencies and lakeshore property owners in citizen science can be a fruitful mechanism for monitoring and detecting emerging invasive species. Moreover, such partnerships could be a valuable tool in evaluating the risk that a particular invasive species poses and what, if any, treatment plan is appropriate.

As for the finding that social conservatives were more likely to favor treatment, natural resources managers can gauge the general political leanings of lakeshore properties in the areas they serve by examining voting patterns in the local area. However, it is also true that many lakeshore property owners may own their property as a second home and do not vote in the local area. Still, to the extent that natural resources managers can infer the political climate of their local constituents, they may prioritize their outreach to more conservative areas to communicate about how chemical treatments can sometimes have unintended consequences and do more harm than good. Therefore, if resource managers identify local constituencies as stakeholders in aquatic invasive management decisions, they should be aware of values that have been found to resonate with conservatives regarding pro-environmental behavior, such as deference to authority, patriotism, and the purity of nature, especially when messages are perceived as coming from within the group (Wolsko, Ariceaga, & Seiden, 2016). If non-native plants are perceived as diminishing the "purity" of an ecosystem, prompting a preference for eradication efforts, that concern could be directed towards the impacts of chemical treatments on the integrity of existing plant and animal communities. For example, chemical treatments may not eradicate aquatic invasive species as planned, but rather create more resistant hybrid varieties (Mikulyuk et al., 2020).

Furthermore, social media sites such as Facebook and search platforms such as Google allow groups and organizations the unique ability to pay to microtarget specific populations of individuals efficiently based on their interests, allowing for the possibility of creating tailored messaging designed to be most persuasive to each audience. Local government agencies and lake association leaders seeking to engage relevant stakeholder groups, or raise awareness about the impact of AIS, could consider the unique technological affordances inherent to social media sites as effective tools for outreach. Natural resources managers should also be aware that those who perceive they have AIS on their lake were more likely to prefer a chemical management strategy. While this is intuitive at some level, it is still valuable to know that lakeshore property owners have this disposition. It points toward the need for outreach that explains the potentially damaging effects of chemical treatments and the benefits of ecologically informed decisionmaking.

Trust in scientists did not play a major role in attitudes towards chemical management approaches. This could potentially be due to AIS not being a particularly controversial topic for lakeshore property owners, as attitudes towards aquatic invasive species were almost uniformly negative in this sample.

To date, there is little research on the attitudes lakeshore property owners have towards AIS, despite these property owners being a significant stakeholder group that face unique challenges and impacts from AIS being present in their lakes. This research helps fill this gap by showing that, for lakeshore property owners, negative feelings about AIS seem to drive their preference for chemical treatment. More research is needed on lakeshore property owners' attitudes towards AIS management, their preferences for treatment and their perception of the risks and benefits of different treatment approaches. Future research could examine the difference between perceived or actual knowledge of AIS and its role in risk perception of management approaches, or more in-depth analyses of their attitudes towards chemical treatments along with other management strategies. Finally, future research should also examine what messaging strategies are most effective in encouraging lakeshore property owners to take a more deliberate, methodical approach to managing invasive species that maintain the ecological integrity of the lakes they live on. Chapter 3: Perceived and Actual Knowledge of Aquatic Invasive Species

Biological invasions significantly negatively impact the economy, costing around \$1.2 trillion worth of damage between 1960 and 2020, with an annual average cost of \$19 billion (Fantle-Lepczyk et al., 2022). Invasive species can interfere with a water body's ability to provide clean drinking water, serve as habitats for fish or other wildlife, and negatively impact recreational qualities of lakes (Walsh, Carpenter & Vander Zanden, 2016). Moreover, invasive species can also threaten or endanger native species, many of which serve essential functions in their native ecosystems (Blackburn et al., 2019). The physiology of invasive species has been studied extensively in order to better inform natural resources managers seeking to more effectively manage biological invasions (e.g., Smith & Barko, 1990; Williamson, 1996; Kolar & Lodge, 2001; Lee, Park & Leskey, 2019; Larson et al., 2020; Mikulyuk et al., 2020). At the same time, however, researchers understand that managing invasive species is a social, as well as biological, issue and have explored the social dimensions of invasive species management. In South Africa, for example, Shackleton and colleagues (2007) found that many people viewed the presence of an invasive cactus as a positive, due to economic value of its fruits (Shackleton et al., 2007).

Moreover, many people may refuse to participate in invasive species management programs if their needs, values, or opinions are ignored (Simberloff, 2011; Woodford et al., 2016). As a consequence, the social perception of invasive species is an equally important factor in determining how willing individuals are to engage with environmental management practices. Factors such as knowledge of invasive species have been found to be a key factor influencing people's perception of invasive species (Eiswerth et al., 2011; Colton & Alpert, 1998; Schreck Reis et al., 2011; Shackleton & Shackleton, 2016; Novoa et al., 2017). For instance, GarciaLlorente and colleagues (2008) conducted a cluster analysis to identify distinct stakeholder groups impacted by invasive species in Spain. They found that the level of knowledge of invasive species differed across stakeholder groups such that conservation professionals and "nature tourists" were more knowledgeable about invasive species than members of the general public. Moreover, individuals with more knowledge of invasive species were more likely to favor eradication, suggesting that knowledge of invasive species or their ecological impacts could influence how individuals perceive the risk they pose to the native ecosystem. Additionally, when many of these studies ask respondents questions about invasive species, their level of knowledge is determined by the number of correct answers (e.g., Eiswerth, Yen & Van Kooten, 2011), or whether they were aware of specific AIS-related impacts (Nanayakkara et al., 2017). However, to the best of my knowledge, no studies have directly explored perceived and actual knowledge of invasive species. Some research suggests that this distinction is important for health behaviors (Crosby & Yarber, 2001) and that there is often a difference in terms of what people say they know versus what they actually know (Naughton & Freisner, 2012; Alotaibi et al., 2012; Ladwig et al., 2012; Rose, Howell & Scheufele, 2019).

Literature Review

Management of Aquatic Invasive Species

While understanding an invasive species' biology and introduction pathway(s) is important (Kueffler, 2013), management of biological invasions is as much a social issue as a biological one and human factors influencing biological invasions are equally important (Kueffler, 2010). This is because, in some instances, those impacted by invasive species may have values or goals that conflict with those of natural resources managers or decision makers (Woolford et al., 2016). Indeed, managing invasive species has been referred to as a "wicked problem" by some scholars (e.g., Woolford et al., 2016) because of its complex nature. A "wicked problem" (Rittel & Weber, 1973; Conklin, 2005) is one in which, among other criteria, there is no right or wrong solution, and each solution is unique. The ambiguity surrounding the management of invasive species could help explain why some individuals deliberately hinder invasive species management or conservation efforts (Rotheram & Lambert, 2012). Because invasive species management is, in part, a social problem, it can be significantly influenced by stakeholder knowledge (Eiswerth et al., 2011) and the cultural beliefs and values of the communities in which invasive species may establish themselves (Coates, 2012; Notzke, 2013).

Because the management of invasive species is, in some way, a "wicked problem," there is no singular way to effectively manage them. Chemical treatments, like fluoridone, are popular and effective but come with potential unintended consequences. Crowell and colleagues (2006), for example, found that, while fluoridone treatment was effective in reducing the concentration of invasive Eurasian watermilfoil, it also contributed significantly to the decline of native plant populations. Moreover, researchers studying the impact of fluoridone treatments found that invasive species reappeared years after initial treatment, suggesting that chemical applications will need to be ongoing in order to be effective (Wagner et al., 2017). To further illustrate the complex nature of this issue, there is some debate over whether chemical treatment of invasive species is worse for the environment than the invasive species themselves. Mikulyuk and colleagues (2020) found, for example, that in a survey of 173 Wisconsin lakes approximately 82% of these lakes experienced a decline in native plant populations after chemical treatment but, in some of these lakes, Eurasian watermilfoil was *positively* associated with native plant abundance. There is a plethora of information available online about best practices regarding the *prevention* of aquatic invasive species. The Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, for instance, publishes a document emphasizing the importance of regular inspection and cleaning of boats, properly disposing of aquatic plants and the display of adequate signage around waterways to inform lake users about relevant state laws (Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, 2012). The state of Wisconsin contains similar resources available online, however these resources emphasize *prevention* of invasive species spread whereas individuals currently impacted by invasive species might be more interested in how to appropriately *manage* them once they are already established. While prevention is an important part of management, the uncertainty surrounding the "best practice" of managing invasive species could result in a decision-making environment in which an individual's values, knowledge, and perceptions (c.f. Witzling, Shaw & Amato, 2015) play a greater role than they would in situations with more clear-cut best practices.

Types of Knowledge: Perceived and Factual

Researchers have long acknowledged the importance of knowledge in influencing individuals' problem-solving processes when confronted with complex information. Simon (1947, 1965) proposed the idea that people do not operate in situations with complete knowledge of a topic and, therefore, their decisions cannot be purely rational and thus coined the term "bounded rationality". Scholars have also recognized that increased knowledge of an issue increases the quality of public debate and improves the ability of decision-making bodies to adequately represent the will of the people (Delli Carpini & Keeter, 1996). Additionally, treating knowledge as a single, broad, concept has led some research to argue that such a conflation results in conflicting findings in regard to science attitudes (Rose et al., 2019). Moreover, the idea that simply increasing an individual's level of knowledge about a topic is sufficient for attitude change (i.e., the "knowledge deficit model") has been criticized as an incomplete conceptualization of the relationship between knowledge, attitudes, and behavior (Brossard & Lewenstein, 2010; Eveland & Cooper, 2013).

In terms of attitudes towards scientific topics, knowledge has been operationalized in many different ways. Some have distinguished between knowledge on a broader level, and knowledge of a specific issue or specific scientific technology (i.e., Allum et al., 2008). In some cases, knowledge of a scientific issue correlates weakly with positive attitudes towards science (Sturgis & Allum, 2000; Sturgis & Allum, 2001) and in other cases, knowledge correlates negatively with attitudes towards specific science issues. For example, Evans and Durant (1995) found that while general "textbook" knowledge of science issues was positively correlated with attitudes towards general science, it correlated negatively with attitudes towards specific technologies that might be considered controversial, like embryonic stem cell research. Thus, while knowledge about science can make people more favorable to science in an abstract sense, it can also lead to them feeling more negatively about more controversial topics. Other researchers have distinguished between other common conceptualizations of knowledge: factual knowledge versus perceived familiarity. Factual knowledge is considered to be a measure that assesses the amount of "textbook" information an individual possesses about a specific scientific issue. For instance, it has been assessed via a battery of informational questions that ask respondents about specific scientific facts (i.e., Brossard & Shanahan, 2006; Johnson, 2003; Stoutenborough & Vedlitz, 2016).

On the other hand, some researchers questioned whether this view of knowledge adequately captures the range of knowledge of respondents, given that the scope of the questions are extremely narrow and specific. For instance, Brossard and Shanahan (2006) argued that measures of knowledge that incorporate elements prominent in media are more representative of what ordinary people are "expected" to know about a given scientific issue, rather than questions taken from what scientific experts believe constitutes sufficient scientific knowledge.

Another common form of knowledge is based on a self-reported measure which asks respondents to rate how knowledgeable they believe themselves to be on a given scientific issue or, alternatively, rate their level of familiarity with the given scientific issue. Stoutenberg and Vedlitz (2016), for instance, explored the difference between respondents' assessed and perceived knowledge of the risk of various scientific technologies finding that, while respondents who scored higher on assessed knowledge mirrored scientists perception of risk for these technologies, greater perceived knowledge was often related to *elevated* perception of risk, suggesting that these are fundamentally different constructs. Ladwig and colleagues (2012) argued that such a measure is more adequately referred to as perceived familiarity, finding that assessed knowledge about nanotechnology and a respondent's perception of their knowledge reflected different underlying knowledge structures and had different correlates. For instance, reading science newspapers and viewing science television were significant predictors for perceived familiarity of nanotechnology, viewing science media online was a significant predictor of factual knowledge (Ladwig et al., 2012).

Perceived familiarity or perceived knowledge is also more subject to a variety of social or psychological impacts than assessed science knowledge. People can be overconfident in estimating their level of self-reported knowledge of a topic (Banwart, 2007; Kruger & Dunning,

1999; Mabe & West, 1982; Malka et al., 2009) and that there can be gender differences in terms of people's self-reported knowledge, with men (particularly younger men) consistently more likely to rate themselves as "well-informed" than women (Banwart, 2007). Other evidence that these are distinct constructs comes from research finding that individuals with lower levels of factual knowledge may be the most likely to self-report higher levels of factual knowledge (Kruger & Dunning, 1999). That perceived familiarity is fundamentally distinct from factual knowledge, and that perceived familiarity has been found to influence an individual's attitude towards science issues has led to the following hypothesis:

H1: Perceived familiarity with AIS is positively correlated with support for chemical management of AIS.

Perceived threat of AIS

Biological invasions are increasingly recognized as a threat to biological diversity because of their significant social or economic impacts (Pejchar & Mooney, 2009; Pimental et al., 2005). Additionally, many invasive species can alter the function of local ecosystems and/or disrupt ecosystem services, and reduce biodiversity (Pejchar & Mooney, 2009; Shackleton et al., 2016; Jeschke et al., 2014). The specific threat posed by invasive species can also be different in the minds of many people. For example, Sharp and colleagues (2011) found that visitors to Cumberland Island National Seashore perceived feral pigs to be the greatest threat to local ecosystems, while visitors were more unsure of the threat posed by insects or plants. Other research has found that the non-nativeness of a particular species was not a factor the general public or conservation volunteers used in judgements about the impacts of biological invasions, suggesting that lay people may have different perceptions of the threat posed by invasive species than scientists or natural resources managers (Selge & Fischer, 2011; Gozlan et al., 2013).

Moreover, there can be discrepancies between management professionals and the lay public in terms of how these groups view the threats posed by invasive species. Gozlan and colleagues (2013) surveyed both conservation managers and members of the public on perceptions of ecological threat and knowledge of invasive species in the United Kingdom. They found that not only did conservation managers have higher levels of perceived knowledge of invasive species compared to members of the public, but they were also more likely to perceive a greater ecological risk of invasive species in general. Members of the public perceived similar levels of ecological risk for some invasive species (e.g., Japanese knotweed) but not others (e.g., harlequin ladybird) (Gozlan et al., 2013). These findings suggest that, perhaps, there is a link between knowledge of invasive species and the degree to which one perceives them as an ecological threat. The more familiar one is with a particular invasive species, the more accurate one may be in evaluating its potential threat to the environment and, therefore, more likely to support invasive management policies.

Because biological invasions are an ongoing process, people's perception of the threat posed by invasive species may also shift over time. Shackleton and colleagues (2019) noted that perceptions can shift in relation to an "invasion gradient", in which an invasive species is seen as more threatening as it becomes more abundant. Research has also demonstrated how media issues can significantly impact an individual's perception of risk by interacting with pre-existing value dispositions, shifting attitudes over time (e.g., Ho, Brossard & Scheufele, 2008). Additionally, other research illustrates the role of news media in increasing the public's perception of risk of invasive species and the actions they take to learn more about them (Clarke, Roman & Conway, 2020).

To further complicate matters, people may hold negative attitudes about invasive species, yet not view them as threatening enough to favor eradication or lethal control measures (García-Quijano et al., 2011; Gardener et al., 2010). Additionally, people may have different perceptions about the threat posed by invasive plants compared to invasive animals. A survey of public attitudes towards invasive alien plants (IAP) in Cape Town, South Africa, showed that, while most people viewed managing IAPs as a necessary action to protect the environment, only 39% considered it to be a "high management priority" (Potgieter et al., 2019). Some non-native species have an economic benefit. The honeybee, for example, was brought to North America by European colonists and has since become an important pollinator of native plants (Hardy, 2016). However, not all non-native species provide an economic benefit to the ecosystems they inhabit, and people generally favor the eradication of invasive species if they are perceived to be economically disadvantageous. In a survey of attitudes towards invasive species, researchers found that between 73% and 84% of respondents favored the eradication of invasive species found to cause economic damage or harm, or that threatened or endangered native species. Interestingly, 45% of respondents in this study favored the eradication of all invasive, non-native species (Bremner & Park, 2017). With this in mind, people's perceptions of the value of an invasive species might depend on what kind of value can be derived from it. Invasive species that are unlikely to yield any positive economic value, or that negatively impact recreational values of a water body (e.g., Eurasian watermilfoil) may be perceived as more threatening. Given the role perceptions play in shaping individual attitudes towards invasive species, the following hypotheses are proposed:

H2a: Individuals who perceive AIS in their lake are more likely to support chemical management of AIS.

H2b: The actual presence of AIS in one's lake is positively associated with greater support for chemical management of AIS.

Attitudes towards Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS)

Despite being regarded by experts as a threat to native plants and animals, there is often a disconnect between experts and the public when it comes to managing invasive species. Although invasive species may not be as controversial as climate change, or as high profile a science issue as genetically modified foods, an individual's understanding of invasive species is a key component in effective management (Bremner & Park, 2007; Jetter & Paine, 2004). Additionally, people who are more familiar with invasive species tend to be more familiar with their impacts (Nanayakkara et al., 2018) and that individuals higher in AIS familiarity tend to be more supportive of preventing the spread of AIS (Gates et al., 2009). However, other research has found that AIS knowledge does not always translate into adherence with management recommendations (Witzling et al., 2016). Moreover, some research suggests that being familiar with invasive species is related to an individual's sense that they can do something about the problems posed by invasive species. Clarke and colleagues (2021) found that individuals who rated highly on measures of self-efficacy (i.e., confidence in their ability to manage invasives on their own), and who were more likely to perceive invasive species as a threat were more likely to take action to manage invasive species on their property.

In addition to individual level factors, social factors also influence people's attitudes towards invasive species. The way people evaluate the value or perceived threat of a particular invasive species can be influenced by factors that have little to do with the invasive species itself, but rather social or emotional factors unrelated to environmental impact. For example, Verbrugge, Van den Born, and Lenders (2013) examined the lay public's perceptions of invasive species and invasive species management in the Netherlands. They found that people were generally opposed to eradication of invasive species that had a high "cuddliness factor", such as mammals or birds, leading the authors to conclude that people's attitudes towards environmental management is highly influenced by factors other than scientific calculation. Other studies further illustrate the importance of people's value predispositions in informing how they approach invasive species management. Fisher and colleagues (2011) conducted a survey across eight different countries in Europe in order to explore how people's value dispositions and mental representations of individual species inform their attitudes towards management practices. They found that people were more likely to report wanting a particular species' population to increase if they perceived it to be harmless and there was a decline in the species' population previously. In other words, the perception that a species was harmless was strongly related to the desire to see the population of the species increase, regardless of whether the species in question a large mammal, a spider, or an invasive plant was. These findings suggest that notions of desirability or undesirability of a particular species, invasive or not, are complex and influenced heavily by an individual's values, beliefs, culture, or community norms.

Another key social factor influencing attitudes towards the environment in general is political ideology. At present, there is little research examining the influence of political ideology on individual attitudes towards invasive species management specifically. However, there is research that shows political ideology has an influence on environmental attitudes. Political conservatives, for example, have been found to place less importance on reducing carbon emissions and, therefore, were less likely to support investment in energy efficient technologies (Gromet, Kunreuther, & Larrick, 2013). Moreover, research has shown that liberals tend to score more highly on measures of environmental concern than conservatives (Cruz, 2017) and has been shown to be correlated with responsible environmental behavior (Cottrell, 2003). Moreover, political ideology has been found to influence attitudes towards scientific topics like conservation (Coffey & Joseph, 2012). Pro-environmental behaviors, such as recycling, the boycotting of environmentally unfriendly companies, and conservation behaviors has been linked to an individual's values such that people alter purchasing decisions if they feel a company or organization's values do not align with their own (Mainieri et al., 1997; Stolle, Hooghe & Micheletti, 2005).

Other research has found that political ideology can also influence support for conservation efforts, like laws designed to protect endangered species (Czech & Borkhataria, 2001). The role of political ideology on trust in science is a topic of much debate. Some research has found that conservatives tend to have a greater distrust of science than liberals, particularly with regards to topics like climate change, attitudes towards energy efficiency, and overall attitudes towards environmentalism in general (Gauchat, 2012; Lewandowsky & Oberauer, 2017; Gromet, Kunreuther & Larrick, 2013; Dunlap, Xiao & McCright, 2001). Other studies, however, have found that differences in partian trust in the scientific community is more nuanced. For instance, Krause and colleagues (2019) point out that an increase in individuals identifying as Independents, coupled with increases in the gap in trust in scientists between religious and non-religious individuals, and between urban and rural residents might account for some of the relationship between conservatism and skepticism towards science. In other words, traditional notions of conservatives as opposed to science may be more driven by divides in

strength of religiosity and geographic location rather than political ideology alone. Still, trust in scientists remains quite high, and has remained so even for controversial topics like global warming and nuclear energy (Krause et al., 2019). Although invasive species may not be controversial in the same way that climate change, vaccines, or GMOs are, there is some evidence that skepticism of the scientific consensus on invasive species is growing, increasing uncertainty among the public on this issue (Russell & Blackburn, 2017). Still, support for invasive species management is high in some populations (Bremner & Park, 2007), particularly among stakeholders who are most impacted by invasive species (Oxley, Waliczek, & Williamson, 2016).

One explanation, some scholars suggest, for this difference in partisan trust could be that environmental appeals tend to be framed in ways that are more appealing to political liberals (Feinberg & Willer, 2013) and that the frames used in this messaging may not be highly appealing to political conservatives as it relies more strongly on notions of care and harm (Graham et al., 2013; Clayton, Koehn & Grover, 2013). When environmental issues are framed in a way that are more likely to resonate with conservatives (i.e., by emphasizing loyalty, patriotism, authority, or personal responsibility) political conservatives and political liberals had roughly equivalent levels of pro-environmental attitudes (Wolsko, 2017). There is currently little research on the impact of political ideology on attitudes towards invasive species management strategies.

Data and Methods

The data used for this study is derived from the same data set used for study 1, with one modification. The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) provided surface water

layer data with each water body indicated by a unique water body identification code (WBIC). This data was combined with other data provided by the WDNR which indicated the presence of specific invasive species in each water body using this WBIC. These data were merged with the data set from study 1 using the WBIC as reference.

Independent Variables:

Political Ideology. This variable is identical to the political ideology variable used in study 1.

AIS Familiarity. This variable is identical to the AIS familiarity variable used in study 1.

Presence of AIS in lake. This variable is designed to measure the actual presence of AIS in an individual's lake. In the data set, each individual invasive species is coded as 1 (present in the water body) or 0 (not present in the water body). This variable is constructed by adding all of the values that indicate a water body contains an invasive plant and transforming it into a binary variable where 1 indicates an invasive plant is present and 0 indicates a water body has no invasive plants. If a water body had both invasive plants and animals, it was treated as having invasive plants. If a water body had invasive animals but no invasive plants, it was excluded from the analysis. In total, 217 (29%) respondents resided on water bodies that contained at least one invasive plant, while 530 (71%) resided on water bodies that did not include any invasive plants.

Perception of AIS presence in lake. This variable is identical to the variable used in study 1.

Perceived Knowledge of AIS management. This variable is identical to the variable used in study 1.

Dependent Variables:

The dependent variable for study 2 is identical to the dependent variable in study 1.

Results

With regards to the first hypothesis (H1), it was not supported by the analysis (B = -.063, p > .05). Interestingly, however, perceived familiarity was significant in Model 4, after which the perceived presence of AIS variable was added.

The second hypothesis (2a) was, however, supported by the model. Individuals who reported that their lake had invasive species were significantly more likely (B = .650, p < .001) to support chemical management of AIS compared to those who did not report that their lake had AIS. Interestingly, there was no difference between individuals who did not know whether their lake had AIS or not, and those who reported their lake had no AIS (B = .189, p > .05). The second part of the hypothesis (2b) was not supported. The actual presence of AIS in one's lake showed no impact on an individual's support for chemical management of AIS (B = .219, p > .05).

The third hypothesis (H3) was also supported by the model. Individuals who were more socially conservative were more likely to support chemical management than individuals who were more socially liberal (B = .147, p < .05). Interestingly, however, economic conservatism showed no relationship to support for chemical management.

	Zero Order	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
	correlations						
Block 1 - Demographics							
Age	.007	.010	.008	.008	.008	.007	.007
Education	.062	.091	.093*	.078	.068	.057	.062
Incremental R^2 (%)		.005					
Block 2 – Political Orientation							
Economic Ideology	.061		.059	.059	.044	.059	.061
Social Ideology	.147*		.169**	.169**	.163**	.150**	.147**
Incremental R^2 (%)			.046				
Block 3 – AIS Familiarity							
Perceived AIS Familiarity	063			.196**	.180**	.104	063
Incremental R^2 (%)				.065			
Block 4 – Presence of AIS in lake							
AIS in lake $=$ Yes	.219				.466***	.226	.219
Incremental R^2 (%)					.094		
Block 5 – Perceived Presence of							
AIS in lake							
Perceived presence of AIS =	.650**					.649***	.650***
YES	*						
Perceived presence of AIS =	.189					.191	.189
Don't know							
Incremental R^2 (%)						.129	
Block 6 – Perceived Knowledge							
Perceived knowledge of AIS	.159						.159
Management							
Incremental R^2 (%)							.128
Total adjusted R^2 (%)							12.8
*p<.05, ** p<.01 *** P<.001							

Table 5: Hierarchical Multiple regression model predicting support for chemical approach to AIS management (unstandardized coefficients)

Discussion

This study is one of the first to shed light on whether an individual's perception of AIS presence is more or less influential than the "on the ground" reality in influencing how people think about managing invasive species. While this study specifically examines perceptions versus reality in an invasive species context, it could help shed light on people's approach to environmental conservation more broadly. For example, in communicating to people about the importance of climate change mitigation, it might be most constructive to focus on what is happening in their community versus what they might think is happening elsewhere. For instance, individuals might be more motivated to engage with management practices if they can see evidence of biological invasions in their own backyard and understand the potential consequences such invasions might have for them personally.

The results of this study suggest that, at least in an invasive species context, perceptions play a strong role in determining how people choose to react to a perceived threat. An important implication of these findings is that science communicators and natural resources managers should be cognizant of the role perceptions play in people's minds and avoid over-emphasizing the threat invasive species causes because it could lead to unintended consequences (i.e., overuse of chemical treatments). Research has shown, for instance, that sensational language has a strong association with negative emotions (Otieno, 2014), and the results of study 1 demonstrate the importance of negative affect in influencing people's preference for chemical management of AIS. Other research (e.g., Shaw et al., 2021) has found that sensationalized language in science messaging does not perform any better or worse than straightforward, fact-based, communications.

Moreover, the finding that social conservatism, but not economic conservatism, impacted people's support for chemical management suggests that researchers and science communicators would do well to take a more nuanced approach to understanding the impact of political ideology on attitudes towards invasive species. For instance, some research has found that political ideology itself has no relation to attitudes towards some scientific issues, but it becomes significant in interactions with other variables like attention to news (Nardi et al., 2020). Other scholars have suggested the relationship between political ideology and trust in science is best understood as a distinction between attitudes towards governments, and attitudes towards corporations, (Pechar et al., 2018), suggesting that political ideology can be a complex factor with multiple components, each becoming salient depending on the specific context or issue under consideration. Consequently, natural resources managers interested in engaging in intervention or outreach activities might want to be cognizant of ways in which issue framing might inadvertently increase the salience of partisan identity when it might not be the most constructive to do so.

In the digital era, it is also important to acknowledge the role of social media in shaping perceptions and attitudes of various publics on different issues. Although this study did not examine the role of social media in this study, future research could take into account the impact of social media and social media use on shaping people's perception of scientific issues that receive less attention from mainstream media. While invasive species might not be a politicized topic like stem cell research, climate change, or COVID-19 vaccination, it is not guaranteed to stay that way. It may also be important for relevant stakeholders to acknowledge that, while the issue of invasive species may not be a politicized issue in a broader sense, how one manages invasive species once present may be political.

Chapter 4: Social Norms and Invasive Species Attitudes

Invasive species pose significant risks to native ecosystems and biodiversity (Vitousek et al., 1996, Asner et al., 2008) and have been suggested to be the cause of about half of extinctions with a known cause (Clavero & García-Berthou, 2005; Bellard et al., 2016). Although much research has been devoted to the investigation of impacts of invasive species on economically generative industries like agriculture and forestry (Vilà et al., 2010), the consequences of biological invasions can be far-reaching, including impacting human health by acting as vectors for disease (Medlock & Leach, 2015). At the same time, effectively managing invasive species can be costly and controversial. For example, individuals may oppose management of a particular invasive species if it has acquired a significant economic value or cultural significance (Roberts, Cresswell, & Hanley, 2018). Increasingly, scholarly attention is being given to beliefs, attitudes, and norms around people's relationship to the environment and the impact this may have on their approach to invasive species management. For example, individuals whose environmental values were assessed to be more "absolute ecocentric" (i.e., the belief that all living things have the right to coexist) were more likely to support a "hands off" management style with regards to invasive species compared to individuals with an "adaptive ecocentric" view of the environment (Sharp et al., 2011). However, while environmental attitudes, knowledge of invasive species and behavioral intention to engage with invasive species management may be influential in *informing* an individual's behavior, it is not sufficient to actually change an individual's behavior (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002).

Because invasive species management is a complex process, requiring coordination between private property owners, community members, and government agencies, the management of invasive species has been conceptualized by some scholars to be a problem of collective action (Epanchin-Niell et al., 2010; McLeod & Saunders, 2011; Yung et al., 2015; Graham et al., 2018). One key challenge in many collective action problems is ensuring that individuals "do their part" to ensure that the organizational goal or objective is met or at least not hindered. With invasive species management, for instance, this could take the form of attending community meetings on invasive species or being aware of invasive species currently residing in their community and taking steps to avoid spreading them further. Social norms have been found to be an important aspect of invasive species management, both because they can help or hinder effective management of biological invasions. For example, Niemiec and colleagues (2016) found that the subjective social norm that others in one's community expect that an individual take action to control invasive species was positively associated with invasive species control behavior. This mirrors previous findings in that scholars have found that subjective social norms in which invasive species control behavior is uncommon was a common barrier to engaging in invasive species management (Prinbeck et al., 2011). Additionally, Witzling, Shaw and Amato (2015) found that subjective norms, but not descriptive norms, were positively correlated with compliance with AIS prevention steps. Other scholars have similarly suggested that using social norms to increase people's perception that others care about invasive species control could be influential in motivating individuals to support invasive species management (Graham, 2013). Conversely, social norms can also hinder invasive species control efforts. Ravnborg and Westermann (2002), for instance, found that, in some rural areas, social norms against approaching neighbors regarding land management decisions inhibited cooperation in invasive species management programs. While social norms can have a considerable influence on individual beliefs and behavior, context is important. Nevertheless, the role of social norms in influencing people's attitudes about environmental management cannot be ignored.

Literature Review

Social Norms

Social norms have been extensively studied for many decades. Sherif (1936) conceived of social norms as a, more or less, set of informal rules that regulate an individual's behavior or activities within a group. Individuals can then use the information conveyed by social norms to evaluate their own behavior relative to the social reality in which they exist (Festinger, 1954). Not only do norms regulate behavior, but social norms can also provide a sort of mental template for individuals navigating complex social information. Informally, social norms convey information about the acceptability of certain behaviors, beliefs, or attitudes within a group or social setting. At the same time, it is also important to distinguish between group or social-level social norms and an individual's understanding of these norms. The latter is often referred to as a perceived norm (e.g., Lapinski & Rimmel, 2005), and operates at the individual, rather than group, level. This distinction has led some scholars to conclude that norms are only meaningful if an individual perceives the violation of social norms to result in some sanction or other undesirable consequence (Bendor & Swistak, 2001). These injunctive norms refer to people's perception of "what ought to be done" in a given social circumstance (Cialdini, Reno, & Kallren, 1990). Descriptive norms, on the other hand, refer to beliefs about what is commonly done by group members (Reno, Cialdini, & Kallgren, 1993). Thus, descriptive norms simply provide information about how individuals tend to act in a given social situation (i.e., the prevalence of a certain behavior), whereas injunctive social norms come with a sanction (or perceived sanction) for violation (Reno, Cialdini & Kallgren, 1993). In many cases, descriptive and injunctive social norms can align. For instance, research on college student attitudes about alcohol consumption shows that many college students perceive that their peers commonly drink alcohol (Perkins &

Berkowitz, 1986; Cox et al., 2019), a descriptive social norm, and that they may lose friendships if they do not also drink alcohol (Rimal & Real, 2003; Yang & Nan, 2019). The differential impact of descriptive or injunctive norms on human behavior, however, can be complex.

Some qualitative studies have found that social norms in general can motivate people to engage in pro-environmental behavior, like sustainable harvesting of plants and animals or participating in invasive species management (Jones, Andriamarovololona, & Hockley, 2008; McKiernan, 2018). Additionally, sharing information about normative behavior (i.e., descriptive norms) has been found to encourage pro-environmental behavior, such as reducing electricity use, recycling, or behavioral intention to conserve energy (Farrow, Grolleau, & Inbanez, 2017). One possibility for this effect is that many pro-environmental behaviors are observable by others, leading to the establishment of a descriptive norm that can influence other people's perceptions of what is commonly done. Recycling, for example, in many municipalities is frequently a public behavior. Homeowners receive specific containers to deposit their recycling, which is then collected by the city on a set collection cycle. A homeowner who chooses not to put out their recycling in a neighborhood of recyclers would stand out. Other studies examining the influence of various types of social norms (e.g., personal, descriptive, and subjective) found that descriptive social norms played a significant role in behavioral intention to engage in proenvironmental behavior like recycling and household waste reduction (Niemiec, Champine, Vaske & Mertens, 2020).

Social norms and invasive species management

The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) considers prevention of invasive species to be the safest and least expensive method of management (USDA, 2023). Some studies
recognize the importance of prevention strategies as a critical first step in a comprehensive management plan (e.g., Vander Zanden et al., 2010)

In addition to pro-environmental behavior, the role of social norms has also been studied in the context of managing invasive species (IS), which represent a growing concern to many communities as the effects of climate change continue to alternative ecosystems (IPPC Secretariat, 2021). Indeed, invasive species management is a collective action problem, requiring coordination and participation from a variety of actors, although much research on invasive species management has explored individual-level factors that influence attitudes towards invasive species. Attitudes towards specific species have been found to influence beliefs about the appropriateness of particular management practices (Marshall et al., 2011), for example, and studies point out that other individual-level factors like a lack of invasive species knowledge can impact whether people treat invasive species at all, as individuals who have little or no knowledge of invasive species may be unaware of the risk they pose to the local ecosystem (Fischer & Charnley, 2012).

However, other researchers also mention collective-level factors (i.e., social norms) warrant further exploration. For instance, Niemiec and colleagues (2016) found that many individuals in Hawai'i became discouraged in their efforts to combat an invasive tree when they perceived a lack of participation or coordination among others within their community. In this context, a descriptive norm was implicitly established that individuals in this community do not engage in IS control efforts, hindering the ability of the community to effectively manage the invasive species. At the same time, there is some research showing that norms themselves can influence an individual's behavior in managing invasive species. Minato, Curtis, and Allen (2010) studied a rural Australian community dealing with invasive weeds, finding that weed

control mechanisms can be enforced through norm-reinforcing social control mechanisms like gossiping. Furthermore, a study among landowners in Montana found that injunctive norms about how noticeable their weed control efforts are by neighbors positively correlated with the use of herbicides to control invasive weeds (Lubeck et al., 2019).

Injunctive norms can function as a way to motivate individuals to engage in invasive species management through, for example, the anticipation of recognition or praise for engaging in control efforts or for social or other sanctions for not participating in control efforts (Ostrom, 2000; Simpson & Willer, 2014). The social context in which individuals exist can play an influential role in motivating or demotivating behavior. A study in New Zealand examining landowner and land manager attitudes towards a predator control program, for example, found that the perception of others' participation in the predator control program was significantly related to their participation in the program and their perception of its efficacy (Niemiec et al., 2017). Specifically, individuals who believed that others did not participate in predator control, were much less likely to engage in predator control, finding it "pointless" to do so (Niemiec et al., 2017). A social norm can be established encouraging action towards a specific collective action goal, but it can also be established against such participation depending on the values and cultural context of the local community. Moreover, in Niemiec and colleagues' (2017) study, the perception of a social norm against participating in predator control programs was sufficient to inhibit participation, though it is unclear whether such a norm existed within the community. Thus, it is not just a matter of interrogating community-level social norms that matters when looking at social influences on invasive species control, but individual-level perceptions of these norms.

This is also particularly noteworthy given that some research found that community-level social norms were more influential than norms from natural resources agencies in motivating invasive species management behaviors. Coon and colleagues (2020a) investigated landowner attitudes towards non-native grasses and behavioral intentions to control them in the Great Plains region of the United States. They found that, while institutional norms (i.e., norms from government agencies) played some role in how people felt about their responsibility for managing non-native grasses, the effect was much weaker compared to social norms from peers. This, as the researchers postulated, could be partially due to a lack of trust towards government institutions in some rural communities, which is in line with prior research in this area (e.g., Coon et al., 2020b). Alternatively, it could also be that individuals in communities impacted by invasive species look to community-based opinion leaders for guidance and information about these issues rather than government officials or agencies.

Social norms, environmental values, and identity

As influential as social norms and normative beliefs may be within an individual or specific social group, it is important to recognize that norms are not universal. Different groups or communities have different normative beliefs about which behaviors are acceptable and in which contexts. One manifestation of this difference is through different social identity groups. The social identity approach (SIA) suggests that people within a particular identity group are linked through the values they hold (Abrams & Hogg, 1990), which in turn form normative beliefs about acceptable behaviors (Manfredo et al., 2016). Values, in this case, being the concepts or beliefs about desirable behavior, which "guide the selection or evaluation of behavior and are ordered by relative importance" (Schwartz & Bilsky, 1990). Unsurprisingly,

values, identity, and normative beliefs have been found to play a significant role in environmental behavior. Research has found, for instance, that people who drive cars may be less likely to reduce the amount of driving they do if they derive a sense of personal identity from driving a car (Stradling et al., 1999), and that an "environmental identity" increases compliance with pro-environmental actions like conserving energy (Van der Werff et al., 2011).

How a person identifies (e.g., as an environmentalist, anti-environmentalist, etc.) can also play a significant role in how they approach issues related to the environment because selfidentification can increase the relative importance of perceived social norms (Terry & Hogg, 1996). Social identity is also thought to be generally stable and generalize to different contexts. For instance, a person who conceives of themselves as an environmentalist may make purchasing decisions about whether to buy environmentally conscious products, conserve energy usage at home, or engage in recycling. Gatersleben, Murtagh and Abrahamse (2014) conducted a study on over 2,600 UK residents and their attitudes towards sustainable lifestyles. They found a strong link between how an individual identified (i.e., as a health-conscious consumer, price conscious consumer, or environmentally conscious consumer) and personal norms surrounding proenvironmental behavior.

In particular, identity and personal norms played a greater role in specific behaviors in which an individual is more likely to feel they have greater freedom to act (i.e., in purchasing decisions like buying Fair Trade products) and that both factors played a significant role in behavioral intention to engage in pro-environmental behavior. Importantly, the link between individual values and pro-environmental behavior was often fully or partially mediated by social identity (Gatersleben, Murtagh & Abrahamse, 2014), suggesting that the influence of social norms imposed by self-categorization in an identity group might play a greater role than

individual values for some specific environmental behaviors. Additionally, other research has shown that not only can social identification moderate the relationship between values and behavioral intention, but it can also have a direct impact (Fishbein & Ajzen, 2010). In light of these findings on the role of social norms and their influence on environmental attitudes, the following hypotheses are proposed:

H1: Individuals who perceive greater social approval for following AIS prevention behaviors are less likely to perceive barriers to engaging in AIS prevention.

H2a: Individuals who perceive greater social approval for managing invasive species are more likely to believe that it is important to prevent the spread of AIS.

H2b: Individuals who perceive greater social approval for managing invasive species are more likely to believe that following AIS prevention behaviors can slow the spread of AIS than individuals with less social approval.

H3: Individuals with greater social approval are more likely to follow AIS prevention steps in the future than those without such social approval.

H4: Individuals who perceive AIS to be a greater threat are more likely to follow AIS prevention steps, more likely to believe that preventing the spread of AIS is important, and more likely to report following AIS prevention steps.

H5: Individuals who have more factual knowledge of AIS laws are more likely to believe that it is important to prevent the spread of AIS and are more likely to report following AIS prevention steps.

Political Ideology and environmental attitudes

Political ideology has long been known to play a role in how people approach science issues. From contentious and controversial issues like stem cell research and climate change, to more "under the radar" topics like invasive species management, an individual's level of conservatism or liberalism can factor significantly into how they think about environmental issues. For example, research has found that the more conservative a person is, the less likely they favor investing in energy efficient technology (Gromet, Kunruether, & Larrick, 2012); that liberals tend to score higher on measures for environmental concern (Cruz, 2017); or that political ideology has an impact on an individual's support for laws designed to protect endangered species (Czech & Borkhataria, 2001). Moreover, other research has found that conservatives are generally distrustful of science in general compared to liberals, particularly with controversial issues like climate change, although the degree to which conservatives can be considered "anti-science" is subject to empirical debate and may not be empirically accurate (Gauchat, 2012; Lewandowsky & Oberauer, 2017; Dunlap, Xiao & McCright, 2001, Krause et al., 2019). For example, Krause and colleagues (2019) point out that overall trust in science has remained relatively high over the decades and that the role of political partisanship in science attitudes is becoming increasingly complex as political partisans become more ideologically consistent (i.e., hold individual beliefs that are consistent with their party's platform) so the relationship between science attitudes and political identification less a function of political party identification and more a function of urban versus rural divides, religiosity, and individual values.

The relationship between political ideology and science issues like invasive species is less clear, largely because invasive species does not feature as prominently in partisan rhetoric as issues like climate change and energy (Dunlap, Xiao & McCright, 2010; Feygina, Jost & Goldsmith, 2010). Previous research on message framing of invasive species management found that both liberals and conservatives were supportive of invasive species management, although it largely depended on whether the message was framed in ecological or economic terms (DeGolia, Hiroyasu & Anderson, 2019). Other research on invasive species found that political attitudes were related to attitudes about climate change, but not invasive species (Seidl & Klepeis, 2011), suggesting that it would be much too simplistic and inaccurate to assume general partisan trends applies to the issues of invasive species management. Based on these findings, the following research question is proposed:

R1: What is the relationship between political ideology and AIS prevention behavior?

Data and Methods

The data for this study comes from two surveys of Wisconsin boaters and anglers. The first distributed in 2018, in order to better understand Wisconsin boater and angler attitudes towards invasive species and related prevention behaviors. The second survey was a nearly identical survey distributed among Wisconsin boaters and anglers in 2019, also designed to assess boater and angler attitudes towards invasive species management and prevention behaviors. For the purpose of this study, data from the two surveys were combined. Because respondents did not provide answers for several survey items, resulting in missing data, missing data was imputed via the "automatic" procedure in SPSS version 28.

Data imputed via the "automatic" procedure is scanned automatically to determine whether the pattern of missing data has a monotone pattern or an arbitrary one, and data will be imputed via either the monotone method or Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) method depending on which imputation method fits the pattern of missing data. For this analysis, a total of five imputed data sets were generated, with missing values being generated via linear regression. The values reported in each of the regression models represent the pooled coefficients from each of the five generated data sets.

Independent Variables

Demographics: The sample was mostly White (97.2%), with an average age of 56 years (SD = 11.36). With regards to gender, the sample was mostly male (64.9%). Regarding level of education, few participants (1.7%) completed some high school, 14.0% completed high school or received a GED, 39.3% had some college, technical, or trade school education, 28.5% completed a four-year college with a bachelor's degree and 16.6% completed a graduate or professional degree. Politically, on economic issues, 4.4% of participants described themselves as "very liberal," 10.2% as "somewhat liberal," 29.7% as "moderate," 28.8% as "somewhat conservative," 26.3% as "very conservative" and 2.4% of respondents reported they "don't know." With regards to social issues, 8.9% described themselves as "very liberal," 16.4% as "somewhat liberal," 29.3% as "moderate," 22.5% as "somewhat conservative" and 23% as "very conservative", with 2% reporting they "don't know".

Political ideology: This item asked respondents to rate how conservative or liberal they were on economic and social issues. The first question asked respondents "In terms of economic issues, would you say you are...," with response options presented on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Very liberal" to "Very conservative" (M = 3.60, SD = 1.13). The second question asked respondents "In terms of social issues, would you say you are..." with response options

presented on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Very liberal" to "Very conservative" (M = 3.34, SD = 1.25).

Perceived AIS threat: This item asked respondents directly "In your opinion, how much of a threat are AIS to the quality of fishing in Wisconsin?" with respondents presented response options on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "No threat" to "Extreme threat" (M = 4.07, SD = .86).

Knowledge of AIS laws: This survey asked respondents to rate whether it was legal or illegal to engage in various invasive species behaviors. Respondents were asked whether it was "legal", "illegal" or "don't know" to engage in the following behaviors: "launch a boat trailer with plants or animals attached", "use the same boat on more than one body of water without prior power washing or other disinfection, such as drying for 5 days", "Leave a boat landing with any water onboard a boat or in equipment with the exception of bait buckets and drinking water", "Leave a boat landing with plants or animals attached to a boat or trailer", "Leave a boat landing with your catch in water", and "Use leftover minnows on another water body if they have had contact with lake or river water". To create the dependent variable, the binary responses for each item were summed up and recoded such that respondents who indicated they "didn't know" whether a specific action was legal, or illegal were coded as "0" (i.e., not having that specific knowledge). Thus, final knowledge of AIS laws scale ranged from 0 to 5 (M = 3.83, SD = 1.12).

Perceived knowledge of AIS laws: This item also asked respondents to rate their level of knowledge of AIS laws, asking respondents "How knowledgeable are you about the laws and regulations related to AIS?". Respondents indicated how knowledgeable they felt they were of AIS laws and regulations on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all knowledgeable" to "Extremely knowledgeable" (M = 2.78, SD = .883).

Information seeking about AIS: This item asked respondents to rate how often they heard or seen information about AIS from various sources of information. The information source options presented to respondents were as follows: "In television news stories", "In television public service announcements or advertisements", "In a newspaper", "On the Internet", "On radio news shows", "On radio advertisements or public service announcements", "Signs at boat landings", "A person stationed at a boat landing", "Bait shop owners or their employees", "Fishing clubs or organizations", "Lake Associations", "Other anglers", and "Other boaters". Respondents were asked to rate how frequently they seen or heard information about AIS from these sources on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all" to "A lot". These 13 items were combined to create a scale with Cronbach's alpha coefficient calculated to be .87.

Social Approval: Respondents were also asked to rate how much their friends, family, and other boaters or anglers would approve of them following AIS prevention steps. Respondents were directed to indicate their responses to the following questions: "How much will your friends approve if you follow the AIS steps?", "How much will your family approve if you follow the AIS steps?", and "How much do you think other boaters or anglers will approve if you follow the AIS steps?" with response options presented on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all" to "Extremely". These three items were then combined into the social approval scale, with Cronbach's alpha calculated to be .88.

Dependent Variables

Perceived Barriers to AIS Prevention: This item is designed to measure a respondent's perception of barriers to engage in AIS prevention behaviors. The survey presented respondents with a list of reasons he or she may not engage in AIS prevention steps and asked respondents to

rate how strongly they agree or disagree with the following statements on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Strongly disagree" to "Strongly Agree": "There often is not enough time to do the steps"; "The steps are too physically difficult for me"; "I do not believe the steps will be effective at stopping the spread of AIS"; "I have a hard time understanding the steps"; "The boat launch is usually too crowded to perform all the steps"; "I would rather do the steps at home"; "There is no punishment if I do not follow the steps"; "Other boaters at the launch do not perform the steps"; "It is too dangerous to do the steps at my launch, e.g. due to high traffic or other reasons"; and "I don't have the tools I need to perform the steps at the launch". These 10 items were then combined into a scale, with Cronbach's alpha coefficient calculated to be .86.

Belief about the importance of preventing AIS: This item asked respondents to rate "How important do you think it is to prevent the spread of AIS?" on a 5-point Likert scale with response options ranging from "Not at all important" to "Extremely important" (M = 4.31, SD = .75).

Belief that following AIS prevention steps will slow the spread of AIS: This item asked respondents to rate how likely they believe following the AIS prevention steps will slow the spread of AIS. The question was worded as follows: "In your opinion, how likely is it that following the AIS prevention steps will slow the spread of invasive species?" with response options given on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all likely" to "Extremely likely" (M= 3.8, SD = .88).

Likelihood of following AIS prevention steps: This item asked respondents how likely they were to follow all of the AIS prevention steps. The question was worded as follows: "How likely are you to follow all of the AIS prevention steps?," with response options given on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all" to "Extremely" (M = 4.18, SD = .80).

Results

H1, regarding perceived barriers to AIS prevention, was supported. Social approval (B = -.325, p < .001) was the most significant predictor of the dependent variable. Individuals who perceived greater levels of social approval among friends, family, and other boaters or anglers were less likely to perceive significant barriers to engaging in AIS prevention steps compared to those with lower levels of social approval. Interestingly, both perceived knowledge (B = -.105, p < .001) and actual knowledge of AIS laws and regulations (B = -.059, p < .01) were also significant in the final model as well as perceived AIS threat (B = -.097, p < .001).

H2a, regarding the belief that it is important to prevent the spread of AIS, was also supported in the final model (model 6). In addition, social approval (B = 278, p <.001) was one of the largest predictors of the belief that preventing the spread of AIS is important. Interestingly, in this model, neither perceived knowledge of AIS laws (B = .047, p < .001) nor actual knowledge of AIS laws and regulations were significant predictors (B = .044, p > .05). However, the degree to which individuals perceive AIS to be a threat (B = .399, p < .001) was highly significant.

Additionally, H2b, regarding the relationship between social approval and the belief that engaging in AIS prevention steps can slow the spread of AIS, was supported in the final model. Social approval (B = .284, p < .001) was the largest predictor of this dependent variable, however AIS threat perception (B = .229, p < .001) was also highly significant. Moreover, there was a slight effect for gender, such that women were more likely than men to believe that engaging in AIS prevention steps can slow the spread of AIS (B = .141, p < .05). There was also a positive effect of actual knowledge of AIS laws (B = .058, p < .05) on the belief in AIS prevention efficacy.

	Zero Order	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
	correlations							
Block I - Demographics	0.0.1	000016	000010	000455	0.0.1	0.01	0.0.1	0.01
Age	.001	.000246	.000218	.000457	.001	.001	.001	.001
Education	023	028	025	017331	018	017	019	023
Year of Survey	.000009	.075*	.000030	.000018	.000021	.000011	.000013	.000009
Gender (female)	.003	034	.004	050	048	082	081	.003
Incremental R^2 (%)		.003						
Block 2 – Political Orientation								
Political Ideology	.020		.038	.025	.023	.025	.026	.020
Incremental R^2 (%)			.012					
Block 3 – Threat Perception								
Perceived AIS Threat	097***			233***	203***	171***	165***	097***
Incremental R^2 (%)				.077				
Block 4 – Actual Knowledge								
of AIS laws								
Knowledge of AIS laws	059***				102***	091***	089***	059***
Incremental R^2 (%)					.096			
Block 5 – Perceived								
Knowledge								
Perceived Knowledge of	105***					105***	095***	105***
AIS laws								
Incremental R^2 (%)						.130		
Block 6 – Information Seeking								
Information seeking about	.039						036	.039
AIS								
Incremental R^2 (%)							.134	
Block 7 – Social Approval								
Social Approval	325***							325***
Incremental R^2								.253
Total adjusted R^2 (%)								25.3
*p<.05, ** p<.01 *** P<.001								

Table 1: Hierarchical Multiple regression model predicting perceived barriers to AIS prevention (unstandardized coefficients)

	Zero Order	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
	correlations							
Block 1 - Demographics								
Age	00040	00012	00018	000346	00038	00039	00042	00046
Education	.038	.050	.045	.029	.030	.029	.032	.035
Year of Survey (year =	.00004	.00002	.000012	.00004	.00004	.00004	.00004	.00004
2019)								
Gender (female)	.125*	.148*	.126*	.186***	.185***	.201	.200***	.128*
Incremental R^2 (%)		.002						
Block 2 – Political								
Orientation								
Political Ideology	195*		068**	040*	040*	040*	041*	036
Incremental R^2 (%)			.015					
Block 3 – Threat Perception								
Perceived AIS Threat	.260***			.502***	.479***	.464***	.457***	.399***
Incremental R^2 (%)				.277				
Block 4 – Actual Knowledge								
of AIS laws								
Knowledge of AIS laws	.044*				.076***	.071***	.069***	.044
Incremental R^2 (%)					.282			
Block 5 – Perceived								
Knowledge								
Perceived Knowledge of	.050*					.050*	.038	.047
AIS laws								
Incremental R^2 (%)						.297		
Block 6 – Information								
Seeking								
Information seeking about	021						.044	020
AIS								
Incremental R^2 (%)							.299	
Block 7 – Social Approval								
Social Approval	.278***							.278***
Incremental <i>R</i> ²								.387
Total adjusted R^2 (%)								38.7
*p<.05, ** p<.01 *** P<.00	1							

Table 2: Hierarchical Multiple regression model predicting belief that it is important to prevent the spread of AIS (unstandardized coefficients)

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Zero Order	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
	correlations							
Block 1 - Demographics								
Age	00019	.00026	.00029	00004	00008	00007	00015	00018
Education	038	034	038	048	047	047	042	038
Year of Survey	00001	00001	00001	.000003	.000001	000003	00001	00001
Gender (female)	.141*	.208**	.192**	.230***	.229***	.217***	.215***	.141*
Incremental R^2 (%)		.008						
Block 2 – Political Orientation								
Political Ideology	026		050	032	031	030	031	026
Incremental R^2 (%)			.012					
Block 3 – Threat Perception								
Perceived AIS Threat	.229***			.318***	.293***	.304***	.288***	.229***
Incremental R^2 (%)				.095				
Block 4 – Actual Knowledge of								
AIS laws								
Knowledge of AIS laws	.058*				.085***	.088***	.084***	.058*
Incremental R^2 (%)					.102			
Block 5 – Perceived Knowledge								
Perceived Knowledge of	055					037	064	055
AIS laws								
Incremental R^2 (%)						.101		
Block 6 – Information Seeking								
Information seeking about	.034						.099*	.034
AIS								
Incremental R^2 (%)							.114	
Block 7 – Social Approval								.284***
Social Approval	.284***							
Incremental R^2								.180
Total adjusted R^2 (%)								18.4
*p<.05, ** p<.01 *** P<.001								

Table 3: Hierarchical Multiple regression model predicting belief that AIS prevention steps will slow the spread of AIS (unstandardized coefficients)

	Zero Order	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
Disch 1 Democratica	correlations							
Block I - Demographics	00015	00029	00040	00010	00002	000002	00011	00015
Age	00015	.00038	.00040	.00010	.00002	.000002	00011	00015
Education	.016	.015	.014	.004	.005	.004	.011	.016
Year of Survey	.00004	.00002	.00002	.00003	.00003	.00004	.00003	.00004
Gender (female)	.121*	.155*	.150*	.187**	.185**	.228***	.225***	.121*
Incremental R^2 (%)		.001						
Block 2 – Political Orientation								
Political Ideology	.006		016	.001	.003	.00009	001	.006
Incremental R^2 (%)			.002					
Block 3 – Threat Perception								
Perceived AIS Threat	.130***			.310***	.275***	.235***	.214***	.130***
Incremental R^2 (%)				.088				
Block 4 – Actual Knowledge of								
AIS laws								
Knowledge of AIS laws	.063***				.120***	.106***	.099***	.063***
Incremental R^2 (%)					.117			
Block 5 – Perceived Knowledge								
Perceived Knowledge of	.107***					.131***	.094**	.107***
AIS laws								
Incremental R^2 (%)						.162		
Block 6 – Information Seeking								
Information seeking about	.042						.135***	.042
AIS								
Incremental R^2 (%)							.182	
Block 7 – Social Approval								
Social Approval	.401***							.401***
Incremental R^2								330
Total adjusted R^2 (%)								33.0
*p<.05, ** p<.01 *** P<.001								20.0

Table 4: Hierarchical Multiple regression model predicting respondent's self-reported likelihood of following AIS prevention steps (unstandardized coefficients)

H3, regarding the self-reported likelihood of following AIS prevention steps, was similarly supported. Again, social approval (B = .401, p < .001) was the single largest predictor of an individual's self reported likelihood of following AIS prevention steps. Perception of AIS threat (B = .130, p < .001) and perceived knowledge of AIS laws and regulations (B = 107, p < .001) were also highly significant factors in whether individuals felt they were more likely to engage in AIS prevention steps. Additionally, more actual knowledge of AIS laws and regulations (B = .063, p < .001) also significantly predicted the likelihood of following AIS prevention steps.

Additionally, H4, regarding perceived threat, was also supported. The more an individual perceived AIS to be a threat, the more likely they were to report fewer perceived barriers to AIS prevention (B = -.097, p < .001), were more likely to report that preventing the spread of AIS is important (B = .399, p < .001) and more likely to report following AIS prevention steps (B = .130, p < .001).

Moreover, H5, regarding actual knowledge of AIS laws was somewhat supported in the final model. Individuals who had greater factual knowledge of AIS laws were more likely to report following the AIS prevention steps (B = .063, p < .001), although the relationship between factual knowledge of AIS laws and the belief that it is important to prevent the spread of AIS was non-significant (B = .044, p > .05).

The findings regarding political ideology (R1) are nonsignificant, but interesting. While political ideology was not a significant predictor in any of the final models, it was a significant negative predictor of the belief that it is important to prevent the spread of AIS until the social approval variable was added (Table 2), suggesting that what one's friends, family and other boaters and anglers think about AIS prevention might have some influence that cancels out the influence of political ideology. No significant interaction effects with political ideology were found for any of the dependent variables.

Discussion

This study reveals some interesting insights about the relationship between social approval and various AIS beliefs about AIS prevention and behaviors. For one, social approval was highly significant for every dependent variable suggesting that, at least in Wisconsin, boaters and anglers value, to a significant degree, what their family, friends, and other boaters and anglers think of their participation in AIS management. This is in line with previous research on social norms and invasive species management or pro-environmental behavior, which finds that an individual's relationship with his or her community, as well as his or her perception of expected behavior can play a significant role in helping or hindering management actions (Witzling, Shaw & Amato, 2015).

The results of this study suggest that, for Wisconsin boaters and anglers, social approval is one of the greatest predictors of an individual's perception of the efficacy of engaging in AIS prevention as well as their self-reported likelihood of engaging in AIS prevention practices in the future. In my view, this has important implications for stakeholders engaged in AIS prevention outreach and education, because it underscores how important close relationships are in an individual's decision to adhere to best practice recommendations regarding invasive species management. While norms can indeed be imposed from the top down (i.e., from government agencies to communities), this approach may not be as effective if one's peer group or close relationships do not share the same norms. Indeed, previous research (e.g., Coon et al., 2020b) has demonstrated that many rural communities experience distrust of government agencies and

therefore may avoid compliance with government-endorsed normative behaviors unless they also align with the individual or community's own norms.

Another interesting finding is that social approval was a much stronger predictor of an individual's hesitancy to engage in AIS prevention behaviors than his or her knowledge of AIS laws, both perceived and actual. While both actual knowledge of AIS laws and regulations and the perceived knowledge of AIS laws and regulations were significant, they appeared to exert less of an influence compared to social approval. This may suggest that outreach campaigns emphasizing the legality of engaging in various AIS-spreading behaviors (e.g., releasing minnows or not cleaning one's boat properly) may have limited effect, particularly if an individual perceives others to not be following these practices themselves. While it may serve an important goal to ensure that boaters and anglers are informed of the legality of specific behaviors related to invasive species, it appears judicious to consider this a first step towards outreach with local communities, rather than a solution in and of itself.

Additionally, the findings regarding political ideology were somewhat surprising. While previous research has demonstrated that conservatives tend to be less environmentally conscious than political liberals (Gromet, Kunruether & Larrick, 2012; Czech & Borkhataria, 2001), the picture revealed in this study demonstrated no meaningful influence of political ideology on any AIS-related dependent variable. However, political ideology was a significant influence on the belief that preventing the spread of AIS is important only until social approval was added, after which political ideology became nonsignificant. Future research could examine in more depth the relationship between political ideology, social norms, and attitudes towards AIS prevention. It could be the case, for instance, that social approval mediates or moderates the influence of political ideology on AIS prevention attitudes.

It is also worth investigating, for instance, whether perhaps factors other than political ideology alone may be responsible for this effect. Krause and colleagues (2019) noted that many effects of partisanship can be explained by religious or geographical factors (i.e., urban or rural residency), and boating and angling are popular recreational activities in Wisconsin. It could be that this significant effect of political ideology is driven more by conservatives who live in more urban areas that are not primarily impacted by aquatic invasive species and therefore maintain some degree of psychological distance from the issue. Further research along these lines should explore whether there are any differences between urban and rural boaters in terms of attitudes towards AIS prevention. Findings from study 1 and study 2, for instance, suggest that conservatives do care about managing or preventing invasive species, even if they are more likely to prefer chemical methods to do so.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

The goal of this dissertation was to explore the social perception of risk and threat, particularly as it pertains to issues of AIS management and prevention. Invasive species (IS) provides a helpful context for this type of investigation because how threatening something is often informed by both what an individual knows about it, as well as how others in their community perceive it. Because invasive species can cause significant environmental damage that can be costly for communities to manage (Pimentel et al., 2005), the issue of invasive species is one in which understanding the interplay between individual beliefs, motivations, and values and those of the community is critically important. Understanding what factors influence people's decision-making with regard to these types of issues can help land managers, stakeholders, and environmentalists more appropriately reach out with impact communities while at the same time providing further insight into how people make decisions in relatively ambiguous circumstances.

Study Overviews

Study 1 examines what factors underpin lakeshore property owner preferences for chemical treatment of aquatic invasive species (AIS). While AIS may not be an inherently politically contentions issue, the use of chemical treatments in waterways can be, however, highly contentious. Research has shown that individuals are more likely to accept management methods perceived as "harsh" (i.e., chemicals) if there are clear guidelines surrounding their use and removal of AIS is evident (Gobster, 2011). Additionally, treating invasive species is a collective action problem, and individuals who opt not to participate in AIS management can cause significant problems for their neighbors and wider community. This is because AIS are living, evolving, organisms and untreated spaces may serve as "invader propagule sources" (Epanchin-Niell, 2017) allowing AIS to multiply relatively undisturbed and then re-colonize previously treated segments of the environment.

At the same time, some research has called into question the circumstances under which chemical management of AIS is the most appropriate approach (e.g., Mikulyuk et al., 2020). One issue is that invasive species are not always present at highly abundant levels (Hansen et al., 2013), so using an environmentally risky method like chemical management may be a "nuclear option" with unintended side effects for non-target species. Glyphosate, for example, is a common chemical used to treat aquatic invasive species, but it is non-selective and will impact non-target plants of all types, both native and non-native (Helander, Saloniemi, & Saikkonen, 2012). Moreover, plants treated with glyphosate have been found to develop a resistance over time (Beckie, 2011), so further treatments will require an increasing amount of chemicals which some individuals may not find desirable. While some individuals or communities might find that using different types of chemicals to manage invasive species might be a desirable workaround, others might object to having more chemicals dumped into their lake.

In this study, an individual's preference for chemical treatment of AIS was largely driven by how they feel about invasive species (i.e., negative emotions), in addition to their perception of their lake as having AIS. Neither trust in university scientists nor trust in Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) scientists played a significant role in whether Wisconsin lakeshore property owners preferred chemical treatment of AIS. This may be partly due to the WDNR not taking an explicit anti-chemical stance on AIS management, rather viewing the use of chemicals to manage AIS as part of a comprehensive AIS control program. In fact, the WDNR explicitly mentions that eradication of invasive species is not realistic, and that not all control methods are "practical, effective, economically feasible, or environmentally sound for every situation" (Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, 2023). Thus, individuals facing an infestation of invasive species on their property are left with many options, but not so much guidance on what is considered to be "best practice".

Interestingly, although it was not a major finding, social conservatives were more likely to prefer chemical treatment of AIS than individuals who considered themselves to be socially liberal as well as both economic conservatives and economic liberals. While the precise reason this may be the case is not particularly clear, it could be due to partisan sorting. Research on party identification and political ideology with regards to environmental concern found that party identification had only a small influence on environmental concern whereas political ideology had a moderate effect (Cruz, 2017).

Study 2 expanded upon Study 1 by examining the relative impact of perceived and actual knowledge of AIS on people's preferences for chemical treatments. Increased knowledge of a situation or context is generally considered to improve decision making (Delli Carpini & Keeter, 1996), however there are different types of knowledge that may differentially impact people's perception of a given situation. For one, research has found that factual knowledge of a scientific issue only weakly correlates with positive attitudes towards science (Sturgis & Allum, 2000; Sturgis & Allum, 2001). Moreover, while "textbook" knowledge of science information may correlate with attitudes towards general science, it has also been found to negatively correlate with scientific issues that may be controversial, like stem cell research (Evans & Durant, 1995). Researchers have also distinguished between factual knowledge of an issue, and perceived knowledge (also called perceived familiarity), which represent different constructs and have different correlates (Ladwig et al., 2012; Vedlitz, 2016; Brossard & Shanahan, 2006).

In study 2, perceived knowledge of AIS (i.e., the perception of AIS presence in one's lake) was highly influential with regards to preferences for chemical management, but that the actual presence of AIS was not. Moreover, perceived knowledge of AIS management did not play a significant role in whether people preferred chemical treatment of AIS, suggesting that regardless of what people (think they) know about AIS management, treatment decisions of AIS may still be largely driven by factors examined in study 1 (e.g., negative affect, perceptions). Interestingly, actual knowledge of AIS presence (i.e., actually having invasive species in one's lake) was significant only until respondents' perceptions were taken into account, after which it remained non-significant. This suggests that, at least in Wisconsin, people's perceptions of whether their lake has AIS play a greater role in determining whether they would prefer to use chemical management methods than whether their lake actually does have AIS. Taken together with study 1, study 2 provides further evidence that, for Wisconsin lakeshore property owners, social factors like perception, emotions, and perceived knowledge of AIS and AIS management play greater roles in shaping attitudes towards management decisions than the "reality" of AIS infestation in their lakes.

Study 3, while using a different data set, explored the role of social norms and social approval in influencing how people feel about AIS management. Social norms have been found to either help or hinder IS management. Social norms can motivate people to take action because of the fear of social sanction (Niemiec et al., 2016) but social norms can also hinder IS management if norms of cooperation are not established, or if there are social norms surrounding mistrust of governmental agencies and officials (Ravnbourg & Westerman, 2002; Niemiec et al., 2017). Moreover, social norms are partly influenced by social identity because individuals are linked by values through their shared social identities (Abrams & Hogg, 1990). Pro-

environmental behavior, like reduced car use, has also been found to be informed by social identity and the values that come along with it (Stradling et al., 1999; Van der Werff et al., 2011) suggesting that these factors can be powerful motivators (or demotivators) in terms of how people approach science issues.

The findings of study 3 provide further support for the influence of social norms on people's attitudes towards invasive species management. Perhaps most relevant for land managers and government agencies charged with mitigating invasive species, study 3 showed that individuals with lower levels of social approval were much less likely to follow AIS prevention steps, even if these individuals believe that it is important to slow the spread of AIS. For individuals working with impacted populations, this could manifest in such a way that selfreported behavioral intention does not align with real-world practice (Witzling, Shaw & Amato, 2015). Understanding the various barriers people perceive to engaging in AIS prevention behaviors is a critical step in effective AIS management because, while individuals impacted by AIS might want to assist in the prevention or management of invasive species (i.e., by following prevention steps or guidelines), it must also be clear and easy for them to understand how to do so.

Across all four models, social approval was consistently one of, if not the, largest predictor of the dependent variables. Whether one's friends, family, or other boaters or anglers approve of following the AIS prevention steps greatly influenced whether a respondent reported they were likely to also follow these steps, influenced their belief that these steps were effective in slowing the spread of AIS, and influenced whether they believed that it was important to stop the spread of AIS. Additionally, this study also demonstrated that perceived threat significantly influenced how people perceived AIS prevention. Unsurprisingly, people who viewed AIS as a threat were much more likely to follow AIS prevention steps, believe that they were effective, and endorse the idea that it is important to stop the spread of AIS.

This study also benefitted from being able to compare respondents' self-reported knowledge of AIS laws and their actual knowledge of AIS laws, which yielded some interesting findings. First, only actual knowledge of AIS laws and regulations was significant in influencing people's belief that following AIS prevention steps will slow the spread of AIS. It could be the case, for example, that people with more knowledge of AIS laws and regulations are also more knowledgeable about the impacts of AIS, how AIS are transmitted, and which behaviors are effective in preventing the spread of AIS compared to those who only perceive themselves to be knowledgeable. Additionally, both perceived and actual knowledge of AIS laws and regulations had a negative relationship with perceived barriers to AIS prevention, suggesting that, regardless of whether knowledge of AIS laws is based on measurable knowledge or not, it still results in a reduction in perceived barriers to AIS prevention. Additionally, both types of knowledge significantly influenced self-reported likelihood of engaging in AIS prevention behaviors. Interestingly, for both self-reported likelihood of engaging in AIS prevention behaviors and the belief that following AIS prevention steps will slow the spread of AIS, perceived knowledge had a greater influence than actual knowledge.

With regards to political ideology, this study demonstrates that, when it comes to invasive species prevention issues, it is not a particularly partisan issue. For example, there was no influence of political ideology in any of the models in study 3, although social conservatism did predict support for chemical management of AIS in studies 1 and 2. While invasive species might not be a politically contentious issue, it is still important for decision makers and land managers to understand the influence of political ideology in shaping people's beliefs and values so they can create effective outreach and intervention programs without potentially alienating certain communities with contentious issue framing.

The preferences we see for chemical management in studies 1 and 2 could be driven by social norms surrounding their use or cost associated with AIS removal. Because invasive species management is a collective action problem, impacted community members must work together to decide on a treatment plan, which can be costly. In Wisconsin, for example, spending on invasive species management totaled over \$8.4 million a year (Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, 2023), so once a community decides on a management plan, it can be costly and time consuming to choose another.

Practical Implications

The influence of social forces on how people approach science issues cannot be understated. As study 1 illustrated, people's perception of AIS presence was a strong predictor of whether they were more likely to prefer chemical treatment, even after actual AIS presence was considered in study 2. At the same time, these findings also suggest avenues for future research.

First, there is no clear guidance on what constitutes a "best practice" for invasive species management, partly because it depends on species, lake, and community. Communities dealing with invasive species infestation are faced with potential economic damage to their property values (Horsch & Lewis, 2009) and a plethora of management options ranging from hand pulling to chemical treatment, each of which have varying costs and risks associated with them. The WDNR (Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources), as a governmental agency, does not advocate for any particular treatment method, even though chemical treatment may have adverse effects on the health of other lake life and humans (Wagner et al., 2007), so communities are largely left to their own devices in terms of what management options might be best for them. Future research could explore whether providing more explicit guidance to impacted communities could influence their choice of management option. This might be particularly important given that profit-motivated companies that sell services to treat invasive species might be engaging in search engine optimization (SEO) or other targeted marketing techniques designed to place their companies and products at the top of search engine results which could then be more salient in the minds of people conducting Internet searches on how to treat invasive species.

It may be the case, for example, that chemical options are more likely to be used because they are merely *perceived* to be the most effective, even if they might not be appropriate for the particular invasive species under consideration. Research that investigates what factors influence people's decision making can be particularly informative in this type of scenario. For example, a conjoint analysis could compare various attributes of each management approach (e.g., cost, side effects, time requirement) and ask people to rate how likely they are to pick each type of management option. Such an experiment could better inform land managers about what factors impacted communities value when selecting treatments for AIS in order to better develop outreach materials and interventions.

Second, future research should consider the differences between perception of AIS presence and actual AIS presence. Given that study 2 found that the actual presence of AIS did not impact whether people preferred to use chemical treatments or not, it seems reasonable to suggest that relevant stakeholders should attempt to inform individuals about whether their property does, in fact, have invasive species in order to potentially reduce the overuse of

chemical treatments. In this way, an individual's perception and reality can align, perhaps leaving less uncertainty for those who might consider treating a lake "just in case".

Given the findings on social approval outlined in study 3, future research could expand upon these findings by further investigating the role of social identity in shaping attitudes about invasive species management. There is some research, for instance, that found social identity influences the type of control methods people use (van Eeden et al., 2020). For example, do people who conceive of themselves as environmentalists use chemical treatments with the same frequency as those who do not? Although it seems like they would not, van Eeden and colleagues (2020) found, for instance, that individuals who considered themselves to be "animal welfare activists" did not differ from other respondents in terms of methods preferred to control wild dingoes in Australia suggesting that, in some contexts, identity and behavior may be incongruent with expectations. Furthermore, future research could explore in what ways social identity or social norms might be moderated by threat perception. Although no significant interactions were found in this dissertation, this may be because respondents overwhelmingly considered AIS to be a threat, so there was little variability in terms of attitudes towards invasive species in these samples.

As an issue of science communication, many people might not consider invasive species to be a particularly "hot button" issue, yet some researchers have identified a growing trend in "invasive species denialism" that dates back to the 1990s (e.g., Ricciardi & Ryan, 2017). The contours of this debate mirror that of climate change denialism surprisingly well in that those who promote the viewpoint that invasive species are not harmful, or that the field of invasion biology is pseudoscientific, often engage in rhetorical strategies that cast doubt on the scientific consensus on invasive species (Ricciardi & Ryan, 2017) or frame invasion biology in terms of other politically contentious social discussions like racism and xenophobia (see Simberloff, 2003). There are, indeed, legitimate criticisms of the science communication surrounding invasive species. The use of militaristic metaphors (i.e., referring to invasive plants or animals as "invaders") has long been problematic (see Larson, Nerlich & Wallis, 2005), yet the effectiveness of these metaphors, still used today, are questionable (Shaw, Campbell, & Radler, 2021). Effective science communication is, of course, contingent upon sound scientific evidence. However, I would argue that it is equally subject to the whims of social perception and, as such, highly influenced by what people see, think, and hear about these science issues. As I have shown in this dissertation, in some contexts, what people think matters much more than what science says and, as such, is heavily influenced by inherently non-scientific factors like values, norms, and ideology. With this in mind, I would argue that science communication should be conceptualized not as *communicating science* but communicating *with* science.

Theoretical Implications

Future research should also explore, in more depth, the role that social norms may have in moderating or mediating individual attitudes about AIS prevention, management, or treatment. For example, in study 3, political ideology was a significant predictor of the belief that it is important to stop the spread of AIS only until the social approval variable was added in the final model. It is possible that political ideology might initially influence individual-level beliefs or attitudes about AIS prevention, but that this effect could be somewhat attenuated by the influence of social norms. Future research could also explore in more depth the role of injunctive norms surrounding AIS prevention behaviors and people's perception of social sanctions for not engaging in such behaviors. Witzling, Shaw, and Amato (2015) for instance, suggested that signs used by the Wisconsin Department of Natural resources could serve as a way to signal injunctive norms to individual boaters by implying that it is against the law to not follow AIS prevention steps. Additional research along these lines could explore alternative ways of framing normative AIS prevention behavior, either via signs, notices, newsletters or via other means. Additionally, while social approval, perceived knowledge of AIS laws and actual knowledge of AIS laws were all significant in reducing individual's perceived barriers to AIS prevention, future research could also further explore perceived barriers to engaging in AIS prevention behaviors. For instance, some individuals may not engage in AIS prevention behaviors because they perceive that other boaters or anglers do not engage in such behavior themselves and therefore following AIS prevention steps would not contribute significantly to slowing the spread of AIS. Future researchers could explore various interventions that boost individual self-efficacy with regards to engaging in AIS prevention steps to, hopefully, boost individuals' willingness to perform AIS prevention steps regardless of whether they perceive other boaters or anglers doing so.

Lastly, although invasive species is not generally regarded as a politically contentious issue, it is still important to understand the role political ideology plays in shaping people's beliefs and values, as well as the ways in which political ideology might interact with social norms in influencing individual behavior. The COVID-19 pandemic, for example, demonstrated how quickly a science issue can evolve into a political one, so stakeholders should be cognizant of the potential for politicization. There is some research, for example, investigating the politicizing of invasive species in the post-Brexit United Kingdom, and how these issues were co-opted by nationalist figures appealing to notions of a "pure" or "pristine" Britain in the wake of the migrant crisis in 2015 (Davies, 2022). This seems to suggest that relatively low-profile scientific issues that are not traditionally partisan can be co-opted to suit a particular narrative

goal. Moreover, there is an emerging debate on "invasive species denialism," in which elements of skepticism about the impact of invasive species, or ethical concerns surrounding invasive species management are likened to general science denialism (Frank, 2021). Given that the spread of invasive species can, in some cases, be linked to climate change (Finch et al., 2020), which is a politically contentious issue, it seems likely that invasive species as a science issue has the potential to become politicized. As an aside, it is important to recognize the link between conservatism and science skepticism is often confined to political contexts in the United States. Studies conducted in international contexts, for instance, have found that the link between political ideology and climate change skepticism is particularly strong in the United States, but is less so in other countries (Hornsey, Harris, & Fielding, 2018). Thus, climate skepticism and other attitudes deemed "anti-science" do not appear to be inherent to conservatism as an ideology, but rather arise from the unique cultural and media environments in which these patterns occur. It is also worth noting that economic conservatives were not always so-called "science skeptics" – in the beginning of the 21st century, for example, economic conservatives tended to have fairly positive views of science and scientists whereas social or "moral conservatives" have always had low confidence in scientists before any meaningful distinction between liberals and conservatives on this issue emerged (Kozlowski, 2021).

At the same time, invasive species have also been referred to as "commonly rare and rarely common" due to their relative lack of abundance in they inhabit (Hansen et al., 2013). This, as Hansen and colleagues (2013) point out, is often counter to the perception that invasive species quickly establish themselves, become dominant, and overwhelm native species populations. So, while I argue that it is important to understand the ways in which factors like political ideology or the process of politicization could potentially impact discourse around invasive species, it is also important to avoid exaggerating or catastrophizing the impact invasive species has on a given ecosystem.

To conclude, as we delve deeper into the psychosocial dynamics of individual attitudes, values and behaviors involved in AIS prevention and management, the intricate interplay between social norms, political ideology, perceptions of threat, and perceptions of management efficacy becomes increasingly evident. The potential, albeit remote, for invasive species issues to become politically polarized, akin to the example of COVID-19, raises questions about how science-related topics can be co-opted for various narratives. As we navigate this terrain, it is imperative for natural resources managers, academics, and the general public to recognize both the malleability of perceptions and the nuanced balance between addressing concerns and avoiding unwarranted catastrophization in the management and prevention of invasive species and their impact on ecosystems.

References

- Abrams, D., & Hogg, M.A. (1990). Self-categorization and social identity theory. Pgs. 10–27. In:
 Hogg, M.A., Mcgarty, C. (eds). Social identity theory: constructive and critical advances.
 Harvester Wheatsheaf, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire, United Kingdom
- Absher, J. D., Vaske, J. J., & Bright, A. D. (2008). Basic beliefs, attitudes, and social norms regarding wildland fire management in southern California. D.J. Chavez, J.D. Absher, P.L. Winter (Eds.), Fire Social Science Research from the Pacific Southwest Research Station: Studies Supported by National Fire Plan Funds, US Forest Service, Albany, CA (2008), pp. 45-56.
- Ansong, M., & Pickering, C. (2015). Whats a weed? Knowledge, attitude and behaviour of park visitors about weeds. *PloS one*, *10*(8), e0135026.
- Alotaibi, A., Gholizadeh, L., Al-Ganmi, A., & Perry, L. (2017). Examining perceived and actual diabetes knowledge among nurses working in a tertiary hospital. *Applied Nursing Research*, 35, 24-29.
- Allum, N., Sturgis, P., Tabourazi, D., & Brunton-Smith, I. (2008). Science knowledge and attitudes across cultures: A meta-analysis. *Public Understanding of Science* 17: 35–54.
- Arbuckle, M. B., & Konisky, D. M. (2015). The role of religion in environmental attitudes. Social Science Quarterly, 96(5), 1244-1263.
- Arbuckle, M. B. (2017). The interaction of religion, political ideology, and concern about climate change in the United States. *Society and Natural Resources*, 30(2), 177-194.
- Aslan, C. E., Hufford, M. B., Epanchin-Niell, R. S., Port, J. D., Sexton, J. P., & Waring, T. M.(2009). Practical challenges in private stewardship of rangeland ecosystems: yellow star

thistle control in Sierra Nevadan foothills. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 62(1), 28-37.

- Asner, G. P., R. F. Hughes, P. M. Vitousek, D. E. Knapp, T. Kennedy-Bowdoin, J. Boardman, R. E. Martin, M. Eastwood, & R. O. Green. 2008. Invasive plants transform the three-dimensional structure of rain forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105 (11):4519-4523. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0710811105
- Azur, M. J., Stuart, E. A., Frangakis, C., & Leaf, P. J. (2011). Multiple imputation by chained equations: what is it and how does it work?. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 20(1), 40-49.
- Banwart, M.C. (2007). Gender and young voters in 2004: The influence of perceived knowledge and interest. *American Behavioral Scientist* 50: 1152–1168.
- Baskin, Y. (2013). *A plague of rats and rubbervines: the growing threat of species invasions*. Island Press.
- Beckie, H. J. (2011). Herbicide-resistant weed management: focus on glyphosate. *Pest Management Science*, 67(9), 1037-1048.
- Bellard, C., Cassey, P., & Blackburn, T.M. (2016a). Alien species as a driver of recent extinctions. *Biology Letters* 12:20150623
- Bendor, J., & Swistak, P. (2001). The evolution of norms. *American Journal of Sociology*, 106, 1493–1545.
- Blackburn, T. M., Bellard, C., & Ricciardi, A. (2019). Alien versus native species as drivers of recent extinctions. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *17*(4), 203-207.

- Blossey, B. (1999). Before, during and after the need for long-term monitoring in invasive plant species management. *Biological Invasions*, *1*(2), 301-311.
- Bremner, A., & Park, K. (2007). Public attitudes to the management of invasive non-native species in Scotland. *Biological conservation*, *139*(3-4), 306-314.
- Brewer, P. R., & Ley, B. L. (2013). Whose science do you believe? Explaining trust in sources of scientific information about the environment. *Science Communication*, *35*(1), 115-137.
- Brossard, D. & Lewenstein, B.V. (2010). A critical appraisal of models of public understanding of science: Using practice to inform theory. In: Kahlor, L. and Stout, P. (eds) *Communicating Science: New Agendas in Communication*. New York, NY: Routledge, pp. 11–39.
- Brossard, D. & Shanahan, J. (2006). Do they know what they read? Building a scientific literacy measurement instrument based on science media coverage. *Science Communication* 28: 47–63.
- Cialdini, R. B., Reno, R. R., & Kallgren, C. A. (1990). A focus theory of normative conduct:
 Recycling the concept of norms to reduce littering in public places. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58, 1015–1026.
- Clarke, M., Ma, Z., Snyder, S., & Floress, K. (2019). What are family forest owners thinking and doing about invasive plants?. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 188, 80-92.
- Clarke, M., Ma, Z., Snyder, S. A., & Hennes, E. P. (2021). Understanding invasive plant management on family forestlands: An application of protection motivation theory. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 286, 112161.
- Clayton, S., Koehn, A., & Grover, E. (2013). Making sense of the senseless: Identity, justice, and the framing of environmental crises. *Social Justice Research*, 26(3), 301-319.
- Clarke, M. K., Roman, L. A., & Conway, T. M. (2020). Communicating with the public about emerald ash borer: militaristic and fatalistic framings in the news media. *Sustainability*, 12(11), 4560.
- Clavero, M., & García-Berthou, E. (2005). Invasive species are a leading cause of animal extinctions. *Trends Ecology & Evolution* 20(3):110
- Coates, P. (2012). Over here: American animals in Britain. In *Invasive and Introduced Plants* and Animals (pp. 55-70). Routledge.
- Colton, T. F., & Alpert, P. (1998). Lack of public awareness of biological invasions by plants. *Natural Areas Journal*, 262-266.
- Conklin J (2005) Dialogue mapping: Building shared understanding of wicked problems. Wiley, New York, 266 pgs.
- Coon, J. J., van Riper, C. J., Morton, L. W., & Miller, J. R. (2020a). What drives private landowner decisions? Exploring non-native grass management in the eastern Great Plains. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 276, 111355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111355
- Coon, J. J., van Riper, C. J., Morton, L. W., & Miller, J. R. (2020b). Evaluating Nonresponse
 Bias in Survey Research Conducted in the Rural Midwest. *Society & Natural Resources*, 33(8), 968–986. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2019.1705950
- Cottrell, S. P. (2003). Influence of sociodemographics and environmental attitudes on general responsible environmental behavior among recreational boaters. *Environment and Behavior*, 35(3), 347-375.

- Crowell, W. J., Proulx, N. A., & Welling, C. H. (2006). Effects of repeated fluoridone treatments over nine years to control Eurasian watermilfoil in a mesotrophic lake. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management*, 44, 133-136.
- Cox, M. J., DiBello, A. M., Meisel, M. K., Ott, M. Q., Kenney, S. R., Clark, M. A., & Barnett, N. P. (2019). Do misperceptions of peer drinking influence personal drinking behavior?
 Results from a complete social network of first-year college students. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 33(3), 297.
- Crosby, R. A., & Yarber, W. L. (2001). Perceived versus actual knowledge about correct condom use among US adolescents: results from a national study. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 28(5), 415-420.
- Crowell, W. J., Proulx, N. A., & Welling, C. H. (2006). Effects of repeated fluoridone treatments over nine years to control Eurasian watermilfoil in a mesotrophic lake. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management*, 44, 133-136.
- Crystal-Ornelas, R., Hudgins, E. J., Cuthbert, R. N., Haubrock, P. J., Fantle-Lepczyk, J., Angulo,
 E., Kramer, A. M., Ballesteros-Mejia, L., Leroy, B., Leung, B., López-López, E., Diagne,
 C., & Courchamp, F. (2021). Economic costs of biological invasions within North
 America. *NeoBiota*, 67, 485–510. https://doi.org/10.3897/neobiota.67.58038
- Cruz, S. M. (2017). The relationships of political ideology and party affiliation with environmental concern: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 53, 81-91.
- Czech, B., & Borkhataria, R. (2001). The relationship of political party affiliation to wildlife conservation attitudes. *Politics and the Life Sciences*, 3-12.

- Davies, J. (2022). Brexit and invasive species: a case study of the cognitive and affective encoding of 'abject nature' in contemporary nationalist ideology. *Cultural Studies*, 36(4), 568-597.
- DeGolia, A. H., Hiroyasu, E. H. T., & Anderson, S. E. (2019). Economic losses or environmental gains? Framing effects on public support for environmental management. *PLOS ONE*, 14(7), e0220320. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220320
- Delli Carpini, M.X., & Keeter, S., 1996. What Americans Know About Politics and Why it Matters. Yale University Press, New Haven, CT.
- Dillman, D., Smyth, J., & Christian, L. (2014). Internet, Phone, Mail, and Mixed-Mode Surveys:The Tailored Design Method (4th ed.). Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.

Dunlap, R. E., Xiao, C., & McCright, A. M. (2001). Politics and environment in America:
Partisan and ideological cleavages in public support for
environmentalism. *Environmental Politics*, 10(4), 23-48

- Eisinga, R., Te Grotenhuis, M., & Pelzer, B. (2013). The reliability of a two-item scale: Pearson, Cronbach, or Spearman-Brown?. *International Journal of Public Health*, 58(4), 637-642.
- Eiswerth M.E, Donaldson S.G, & Johnson W.S. (2000). Potential environmental impacts and economic damages of Eurasian watermilfoil (Myriophyllum spicatum) in western Nevada and northeastern California. *Weed Technology*, 14(3): 511–518. doi: 10.1614/0890-037X(2000)014[0511:PEIAED]2.0.CO;2
- Eiswerth, M, E, Yen, S, T, & van Kooten, G.C. (2011). Factors determining awareness and knowledge of aquatic invasive species. *Ecological Economics* 70(9): 1672–1679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2011.04.012

- Epanchin-Niell, R. S., Hufford, M. B., Aslan, C. E., Sexton, J. P., Port, J. D., & Waring, T. M. (2010). Controlling invasive species in complex social landscapes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8(4), 210-216.
- Epanchin-Niell, R.S., & Wilen, J.E., (2015). Individual and cooperative management of invasive species in human-mediated landscapes. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 97, 180–198.
- Epanchin-Niell, R. S. (2017). Economics of invasive species policy and management. *Biological Invasions*, *19*(11), 3333-3354.
- Epanchin-Niell, R., Thompson, A. L., & Treakle, T. (2021). Public contributions to early detection of new invasive pests. *Conservation Science and Practice*, e422.
- Evans, G. & Durant, J. (1995) "The Relationship between Knowledge and Attitudes in the Public Understanding of Science in Britain," *Public Understanding of Science* 4(1): 57–74.
- Eveland, W, P., & Cooper, K, E. (2013). An integrated model of communication influence on beliefs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110: 14088–14095.
- Ewel, J. J., O'Dowd, D. J., Bergelson, J., Daehler, C. C., D'Antonio, C. M., Gómez, L. D.,
 Gordon, D. R., Hobbs, R. J., Holt, A., Hopper, K. R., Hughes, C. E., LaHart, M., Leakey,
 R. R. B., Lee, W. G., Loope, L. L., Lorence, D. H., Louda, S. M., Lugo, A. E., McEvoy,
 P.B., Richardson, D. M., & Vitousek, P. M. (1999). Deliberate introductions of species:
 research needs: benefits can be reaped, but risks are high. *BioScience*, 49(8), 619-630.
- Fantle-Lepczyk, J. E., Haubrock, P. J., Kramer, A. M., Cuthbert, R. N., Turbelin, A. J., Crystal-Ornelas, R., Diagne, C., & Courchamp, F. (2022). Economic costs of biological invasions in the United States. *Science of the Total Environment*, 806, 151318.

- Farrow, K., Grolleau, G., & Ibanez, L. (2017). Social Norms and Pro-environmental Behavior: A Review of the Evidence. *Ecological Economics*, 140, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.04.017
- Feinberg, M., & Willer, R. (2013). The moral roots of environmental attitudes. *Psychological Science*, 24(1), 56-62.

Festinger, L. (1954). A theory of social comparison processes. Human Relations, 7, 117–140.

- Feygina, I., Jost, J, T., & Goldsmith, R, E. (2010). System justification, the denial of global warming, and the possibility of "system- sanctioned change." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin.* 36(3):326–38.
- Finch, D. M., Butler, J. L., Runyon, J. B., Fettig, C. J., Kilkenny, F. F., Jose, S., Frankel, S. J.,
 Cushman, S. A., Cobb, R.C., Dukes, J.S., Hicke, J.A & Amelon, S. K. (2021). Effects of
 climate change on invasive species. In T.M. Pollard, T. Patel-Weynand, D.M. Finch, C.
 Ford Miniat, D.C. Hayes and V.M. Lopez (Eds.), Invasive species in forests and
 rangelands of the United States: a comprehensive science synthesis for the United States
 forest sector (pp 57-83). Springer.
- Fischer, A. P., & Charnley, S. (2012). Private forest owners and invasive plants: risk perception and management. *Invasive Plant Science and Management* 5(3):375-389. https://doi.org/10.1614/ IPSM-D-12-00005.1
- Fischer, A., Langers, F., Bednar-Friedl, B., Geamana, N., & Skogen, K. (2011). Mental representations of animal and plant species in their social contexts: Results from a survey across Europe. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 31(2), 118-128.
- Fishbein M, & Ajzen, I. (2010). Predicting and changing behavior: the reasoned action approach. Psychology Press, Taylor & Francis Group, New York

- Fitzgerald, G., Fitzgerald, N., & Davidson, C. (2007). Public attitudes towards invasive animals and their impacts. Canberra, Australia: Invasive Animals Co-operative Research Centre.
- Florida Fish and Wildlife Commission (2019). Water hyacinth. Retrieved March 11, 2021, from https://myfwc.com/wildlifehabitats/habitat/invasive-plants/weed-alerts/water-hyacinth/#:~:text=Environmental%20damage%20caused%20by%20water%2Dhyacinth%20populationsandtext=Water%2Dhyacinth%20mats%20can%20increase,populations%20decrease%20biodiversity%20in%20Florida.
- Frank, D. M. (2021). Disagreement or denialism? "Invasive species denialism" and ethical disagreement in science. *Synthese*, 198 (Suppl 25), 6085-6113.
- García-Quijano, C.G., Carlo, T.A., & Arce-Nazario, J. (2011). Human ecology of a species introduction: interactions between humans and introduced green iguanas in a Puerto Rican urban estuary. *Human Organization*. 70, 164–178. https://doi.org/10.17730/humo.70.2.p24755p02826h047
- García-Llorente, M., Martín-López, B., González, J. A., Alcorlo, P., & Montes, C. (2008). Social perceptions of the impacts and benefits of invasive alien species: implications for management. *Biological Conservation*, 141(12), 2969-2983.
- Gardener, M. R., Atkinson, R., & Rentería, J. L. (2010). Eradications and people: lessons from the plant eradication program in Galapagos. *Restoration Ecology*, *18*(1), 20-29.

Gatersleben, B., Murtagh, N., & Abrahamse, W. (2014). Values, identity, and pro-environmental behaviour. *Contemporary Social Science*, 9(4), 374–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2012.682086

- Gates, K.K, Guy C.S, Zale A.V, & Horton T.B. (2009) Angler awareness of aquatic nuisance species and potential transport mechanisms. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 16(6):448–456
- Gauchat, G. (2012). Politicization of science in the public sphere: A study of public trust in the United States, 1974 to 2010. *American Sociological Review*, 77(2), 167-187.
- Gettys, L. A., & Leon, R. G. (2021). A population genetics approach for the study of fluridone resistance in hydrilla. *Aquatic Invasions*, 16(1).
- Gobster, P.H., (2011). Factors affecting people's responses to invasive species management. In:
 Rotherham, I.D., Lambert, R.A. (Eds.), Invasive and Introduced Plants and Animals –
 Human Perceptions, Attitudes and Approaches to Management. Earthscan, London, pp. 249–263
- Graham, J., Haidt, J., Koleva, S., Motyl, M., Iyer, R., Wojcik, S. P., & Ditto, P. H. (2013). Moral foundations theory: The pragmatic validity of moral pluralism. In Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 47, pp. 55-130). Academic Press.
- Graham, S. (2013). Three cooperative pathways to solving a collective weed management problem. Australasian Journal of Environmental Management 20(2):116-129. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14486563.2013.774681
- Graham, S., Metcalf, A. L., Gill, N., Niemiec, R., Moreno, C., Bach, T., Ikutegbe, V., Hallstrom, L., Ma, Z., & Lubeck, A. (2019). Opportunities for better use of collective action theory in research and governance for invasive species management. *Conservation Biology*, 33(2), 275–287. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13266

- Gromet, D. M., Kunreuther, H., & Larrick, R. P. (2013). Political ideology affects energyefficiency attitudes and choices. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(23), 9314-9319.
- Gozlan, R. E., Burnard, D., Andreou, D., & Britton, J. R. (2013). Understanding the threats posed by non-native species: public vs. conservation managers. PloS one, 8(1), e53200.
- Hart, P.S, & Larson, B.M.H. (2014). Communicating about invasive species: How does 'driver' and 'passenger' models influence public willingness to take action. *Conservation Letters* 7: 545-552.
- Hansen, G. J., Vander Zanden, M. J., Blum, M. J., Clayton, M. K., Hain, E. F., Hauxwell, J.,
 Izzo, M., Kornis, M.S., McIntyre, P. B., Mikulyuk, A., Nilsson, E., Olden, J. D., Papes,
 M., & Sharma, S. (2013). Commonly rare and rarely common: comparing population
 abundance of invasive and native aquatic species. *PLoS One*, 8(10), e77415.
- Hardy, R. (2016). Bee line: How the honeybee defined the American frontier. *Readings: A Journal for Scholars and Readers*, 2(1), 1-9.
- Head, L., Larson, B. M., Hobbs, R., Atchison, J., Gill, N., Kull, C., & Rangan, H. (2015). Living with invasive plants in the Anthropocene: the importance of understanding practice and experience. *Conservation and Society*, 13(3), 311-318.
- Helander, M., Saloniemi, I., & Saikkonen, K. (2012). Glyphosate in northern ecosystems. *Trends in Plant Science*, 17(10), 569-574.
- Hershner, C., & Havens, K. J. (2008). Managing invasive aquatic plants in a changing system: strategic consideration of ecosystem services. *Conservation Biology*, 22(3), 544-550.

- Ho, S.S., Brossard, D., & Scheufele, D.A. (2008). Effects of value predispositions, mass media use, and knowledge on public attitudes toward embryonic stem cell research.
 International Journal of Public Opinion Research, 20(2), 171-192.
- Holden, M. H., Nyrop, J. P., & Ellner, S. P. (2016). The economic benefit of time-varying surveillance effort for invasive species management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 53(3), 712-721.
- Hornsey, M. J., Harris, E. A., & Fielding, K. S. (2018). Relationships among conspiratorial beliefs, conservatism and climate skepticism across nations. *Nature Climate Change*, 8(7), 614-620.
- Horsch, E. J., & Lewis, D. J. (2009). The effects of aquatic invasive species on property values: evidence from a quasi-experiment. *Land Economics*, 85(3), 391-409.
- Howell, A. P., Shaw, B. R., & Alvarez, G. (2015). Bait shop owners as opinion leaders: A test of the theory of planned behavior to predict pro-environmental outreach behaviors and intentions. *Environment and Behavior*, 47(10), 1107-1126.
- IPPC Secretariat. (2021). Scientific review of the impact of climate change on plant pests. FAO on behalf of the IPPC Secretariat. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb4769en
- Japelj, A., Veenvliet, J. K., Malovrh, J., Verlič, A., & De Groot, M. (2019). Public preferences for the management of different invasive alien forest taxa. *Biological Invasions*, 21(11), 3349-3382.
- Jeschke, J.M., Bacher, S., Blackburn, T.M., Dick, J.T.A., Essl, F., Evans, T., Gaertner, M.,
 Hulme, P.E., Kühn, I., Mrugala, A., Pergl, J., Pyšek, P., Rabitsch, W., Ricciardi, A.,
 Richardson, D.M., Sendek, A., Vilà, M., Winter, M., & Kumschick, S. (2014). Defining
 the impact of non-native species. *Conservation Biology*. 28(5), doi: 10.1111/cobi.12299.

- Jetter K., & Paine T. D. (2004). Consumer preferences and willingness to pay for biological control in the urban landscape. *Biological Control* 30(2):312–322
- Johnson, B. B. (1983). Advancing understanding of knowledge's role in lay risk perception. *Risk: Issues in Health and Safety*, 4(3), 189-212.
- Johnson, M., & Meder, M., (2013). Effects of Aquatic Invasive Species on Home Prices: Evidence from Wisconsin. Retrieved from. http://www.aquaticnuisance.org/ wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2010/06/Effects-of-Aquatic-Invasive-Species-onHome-Prices-Evidence-from-Wisconsin-Johnson-and-Meder-2013.pdf.
- Jones, J. P. G., Andriamarovololona, M. M., & Hockley, N. (2008). The Importance of Taboos and Social Norms to Conservation in Madagascar. *Conservation Biology*, 22(4), 976– 986. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00970.x
- Kellstedt, P. M., Zahran, S., & Vedlitz, A. (2008). Personal efficacy, the information environment, and attitudes toward global warming and climate change in the United States. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, 28(1), 113-126.
- Kolar, C.S., & Lodge, D.M. (2001). Progress in invasion biology: predicting invaders. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 16:199–204
- Kollmuss, A., & J. Agyeman. (2002). Mind the gap: why do people act environmentally and what are the barriers to pro environmental behavior? *Environmental Education Research* 8 (3):239-260. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13504620220145401
- Koob, M., & McGuire, C. (2013) 2010 Survey of sport fishing in Saskatchewan. SK Ministry of Environment, Prince Albert
- Kozlowski, A. C. (2022). How conservatives lost confidence in science: the role of ideological alignment in political polarization. *Social Forces*, *100*(3), 1415-1443.

- Krause, N. M., Brossard, D., Scheufele, D. A., Xenos, M. A., & Franke, K. (2019). Trends— Americans' trust in science and scientists. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 83(4), 817-836.
- Kruger, J. & Dunning, D. (1999). Unskilled and unaware of it: How difficulties in recognizing one's own incompetence lead to inflated self-assessments. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 77: 1121–1134.
- Kueffer, C. (2010). Transdisciplinary research is needed to predict plant invasions in an era of global change. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 25(11), 619.
- Kueffer, C. (2013). Integrating natural and social sciences for understanding and managing plant invasions. In: Larrue S (Ed.) Biodiversity and societies in the Pacific Islands. Presses
 Universitaires de Provonce, Collection "Confluent des Sciences" and ANU ePress, 71–96.
- Ladwig, P., Dalrymple, K. E., Brossard, D., Scheufele, D. A., & Corley, E. A. (2012). Perceived familiarity or factual knowledge? Comparing operationalizations of scientific understanding. *Science and Public Policy*, 39(6), 761-774.
- Lake, E. (2009). Restoration on private land: management practices and motivation of landowners. A case study of Jamberoo valley, NSW. Unpublished BSc [Hons] thesis).
 University of Wollongong, Wollongong, NSW, Australia.
- Lapinski, M. K., & Rimal, R. N. (2005). An Explication of Social Norms. *Communication Theory*, 15(2), 127–147.
- Larkin, D. J., Monfils, A. K., Boissezon, A., Sleith, R. S., Skawinski, P. M., Welling, C. H., Cahill, B., & Karol, K. G. (2018). Biology, ecology, and management of starry stonewort (Nitellopsis obtusa; Characeae): A Red-listed Eurasian green alga invasive in North America. *Aquatic Botany*, 148, 15-24.

- Larson, L. R., Cooper, C. B., & Hauber, M. E. (2016). Emotions as Drivers of Wildlife Stewardship Behavior: Examining Citizen Science Nest Monitors' Responses to Invasive House Sparrows. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 21(1), 18–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871209.2015.1086933
- Larson, E. R., Graham, B. M., Achury, R., Coon, J. J., Daniels, M. K., Gambrell, D. K., Jonasen, K. L., King, G.D., LaRacuente, N., Perrin-Stowe, T., Reed, E. M., Rice, C. J., Ruzi, S. A., Thairu, M.W., Wilson, J. C., & Suarez, A. V. (2020). From eDNA to citizen science: emerging tools for the early detection of invasive species. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 18(4), 194-202.
- Larson, B. M., Nerlich, B., & Wallis, P. (2005). Metaphors and biorisks: The war on infectious diseases and invasive species. *Science Communication*, *26*(3), 243-268.
- Leahy, J. E., & Anderson, D. H. (2008). Trust factors in community–water resource management agency relationships. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 87(2), 100-107.
- Lee, D. H., Park, Y. L., & Leskey, T. C. (2019). A review of biology and management of Lycorma delicatula (Hemiptera: Fulgoridae), an emerging global invasive species. *Journal of Asia-Pacific Entomology*, 22(2), 589-596.
- Leistritz, F. L., Bangsund, D. A., & Hodur, N. M. (2004). Assessing the Economic Impact of Invasive Weeds: The Case of Leafy Spurge (Euphorbia esula). Weed Technology, 18, 1392–1395.
- Leung, B., Lodge, D. M., Finnoff, D., Shogren, J. F., Lewis, M. A., & Lamberti, G. (2002). An ounce of prevention or a pound of cure: bioeconomic risk analysis of invasive species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 269(1508), 2407-2413.

- Lewandowsky, S., & Oberauer, K. (2016). Motivated rejection of science. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 25(4), 217-222.
- Lubeck, A. A., Metcalf, A. L., Beckman, C. L., Yung, L., & Angle, J. W. (2019). Collective factors drive individual invasive species control behaviors: Evidence from private lands in Montana, USA. *Ecology and Society*, 24(2), art32. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-10897-240232
- Ma, Z., Clarke, M., & Church, S. P. (2018). Insights into individual and cooperative invasive plant management on family forestlands. *Land Use Policy*. 75, 682–693.
- Mabe, P.A. & West, S.G. (1982). Validity of self-evaluation of ability: A review and metaanalysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 67: 280–296.
- Mackenzie, B. F., & Larson, B. M. (2010). Participation under time constraints: landowner perceptions of rapid response to the emerald ash borer. *Society and Natural Resources*, 23(10), 1013-1022.
- Madsen, J. D., Sutherland, J. W., Bloomfield, J. A., Eichler, L. W., & Boylen, C. W. (1991). The decline of native vegetation under dense Eurasian watermilfoil canopies. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management*, 29, 94-99.
- Malka, A., Krosnick, J.A., & Langer, G. (2009). The association of knowledge with concern about global warming: Trusted information sources shape public thinking. *Risk Analysis* 29: 633–647.
- Mainieri, T., Barnett, E. G., Valdero, T. R., Unipan, J. B., & Oskamp, S. (1997). Green buying:
 The influence of environmental concern on consumer behavior. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 137, 189-204.

- Manfredo, M.J., Teel, T.L., & Dietsch, A.M. (2016) Implications of human value shift and persistence for biodiversity conservation. *Conservation Biology* 30: 287–296
- Marshall, N. A., M. Friedel, R. D. van Klinken, & A. C. Grice. 2011. Considering the social dimension of invasive species: the case of buffel grass. Environmental Science and Policy 14 (3):327-338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2010.10.005
- McKiernan, S. (2018). Managing invasive plants in a rural-amenity landscape: the role of social capital and Landcare. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management* 61 (8):1419–37. doi: 10.1080/09640568.2017.1351930.
- McLeod, L.J., & Saunders, G.R. (2011). Can legislation improve the effectiveness of fox control in NSW? *Australasian Journal of Environmental Management* 18:248–259.
- Medlock, J. M., & Leach, S. A. (2015). Effect of climate change on vector-borne disease risk in the UK. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 15(6), 721–730. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)70091-5
- Mikulyuk, A., Hein, C. L., Van Egeren, S., Kujawa, E. R., & Vander Zanden, M. J. (2020). Prioritizing management of non-native Eurasian Watermilfoil using species occurrence and abundance predictions. *Diversity*, 12(10), 394.
- Mikulyuk, A., Kujawa, E., Nault, M. E., Van Egeren, S., Wagner, K. I., Barton, M., Hauxwell, J., & Vander Zanden, M. J. (2020). Is the cure worse than the disease? Comparing the ecological effects of an invasive aquatic plant and the herbicide treatments used to control it. *FACETS*, 5(1), 353-366.
- Milfont, T. L., & Duckitt, J. (2010). The environmental attitudes inventory: A valid and reliable measure to assess the structure of environmental attitudes. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 30(1), 80-94.

- Minato, W., A. Curtis, & C. Allan. 2010. Social norms and natural resource management in a changing rural community. *Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning* 12(4):381-403. https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X.2010.531084
- Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. (2012). Aquatic Invasive Species Best Management Practices for Water Access.

https://files.dnr.state.mn.us/destinations/water_access/ais/bmp_full.pdf

- Mooney, J. (2020). "Invasion of the Deadly Aliens." Ireland | The Sunday Times, The Sunday Times, 5 Sept. 2020, www.thetimes.co.uk/article/invasion-of-the-deadly-aliens-sjc3w63kl.
- Nanayakkara, L., Jurdi-Hage, R., Leavitt, P. R., & Wissel, B. (2018). In lakes but not in minds: stakeholder knowledge of invasive species in prairie lakes. *Biological Invasions*, 20(3), 633-652.
- Otieno, C., Spada, H., Liebler, K., Ludemann, T., Deil, U., & Renkl, A. (2014). Informing about climate change and invasive species: How the presentation of information affects perception of risk, emotions, and learning. *Environmental Education Research*, 20(5), 612-638.
- Nardi, A., Shaw, B., Brossard, D., & Drake, D. (2020). Public attitudes toward urban foxes and coyotes: the roles of perceived risks and benefits, political ideology, ecological worldview, and attention to local news about urban wildlife. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 25(5), 405–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871209.2020.1748768
- Naughton, C. A., & Friesner, D. L. (2012). Comparison of pharmacy students' perceived and actual knowledge using the pharmacy curricular outcomes assessment. *American Journal* of Pharmaceutical Education, 76(4).

- Nguyen, N. A., Eskelson, B. N., Meitner, M. J., & Murray, T. (2020). People's Knowledge and Risk Perceptions of Invasive Plants in Metro Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada. *Environmental Management*, 66(6), 985-996.
- Niemiec, R. M., Ardoin, N. M., Wharton, C. B., & Asner, G. P. (2016). Motivating residents to combat invasive species on private lands: social norms and community reciprocity. *Ecology and Society*, 21(2).
- Niemiec, R. M., Champine, V., Vaske, J. J., & Mertens, A. (2020). Does the Impact of Norms Vary by Type of Norm and Type of Conservation Behavior? A Meta-Analysis. *Society & Natural Resources*, 33(8), 1024–1040. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2020.1729912
- Niemiec, R. M., Pech, R. P., Norbury, G. L., & Byrom, A. E. (2017). Landowners' Perspectives on Coordinated, Landscape-Level Invasive Species Control: The Role of Social and Ecological Context. *Environmental Management*, 59(3), 477–489. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-016-0807-y
- Notzke, C. (2013). An exploration into political ecology and nonhuman agency: The case of the wild horse in western Canada. *The Canadian Geographer/Le Géographe Canadien*, 57(4), 389-412.
- Novoa, A., Dehnen-Schmutz, K., Fried, J., & Vimercati, G. (2017). Does public awareness increase support for invasive species management? Promising evidence across taxa and landscape types. *Biological invasions*, *19*(12), 3691-3705.
- Ostrom, E. (2000). Collective action and the evolution of social norms. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*. 14:137–158
- Otieno, C., Spada, H., & Renkl, A. (2013). Effects of news frames on perceived risk, emotions, and learning. *PloS one*, 8(11), e79696.

- Orth, D. J., Schmitt, J. D., & Hilling, C. D. (2020). Hyperbole, Simile, Metaphor, and Invasivore: Messaging About Non-native Blue Catfish Expansion. *Fisheries*, 45(12), 638-646.
- Oxley, F. M., Waliczek, T. M., & Williamson, P. S. (2016). Stakeholder opinions on invasive species and their management in the San Marcos River. *HortTechnology*, 26(4), 514-521.
- Pechar, E., Bernauer, T., & Mayer, F. (2018). Beyond political ideology: The impact of attitudes towards government and corporations on trust in science. *Science Communication*, 40(3), 291-313.
- Pejchar, L., & Mooney, H. A. (2009). Invasive species, ecosystem services and human wellbeing. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 24(9), 497-504.
- Perkins, H. W., & Berkowitz, A. D. (1986). Perceiving the community norms of alcohol use among students: Some research implications for campus alcohol education programming. *International Journal of the Addictions*, 21, 961–976.
- Pew Research Center (February, 2008). Religious Landscape Study. From https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2013/05/report-religiouslandscape-study-full.pdf.
- Potgieter, L. J., Gaertner, M., O'Farrell, P. J., & Richardson, D. M. (2019). Perceptions of impact: Invasive alien plants in the urban environment. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 229, 76–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.05.080
- Pimentel, D., Zuniga, R., & Morrison, D. (2005). Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien-invasive species in the United States. *Ecological Economics*, 52(3), 273-288.

- Prinbeck, G., Lach, D., & Chan, S. (2011). Exploring stakeholders' attitudes and beliefs regarding behaviors that prevent the spread of invasive species. *Environmental Education Research* 17(3):341–352. doi:10.1080/13504622.2010.542451
- Purdy, K. G., & Decker, D. J. (1989). Applying wildlife values information in management: the wildlife attitudes and values scale. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* (1973-2006), 17(4), 494-500.
- Putnam, L. L., & Holmer, M. (1992). Framing, reframing, and issue development. In L. L. Putnam & M. E. Roloff (Eds.), *Communication and Negotiation* (pp. 128–155). Sage Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483325880.n7
- Radomski, P., & Goeman T.J. (2001) Consequences of human lakeshore development on emergent and floating-leaf vegetation abundance. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 21:46–
- Raghunathan, T. E., Solenberger, P. W., & Van Hoewyk, J. (2002). IVEware: Imputation and variance estimation software. Ann Arbor, MI: Survey Methodology Program, Survey Research Center, Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan.
- Ravnborg, H.M., & Westermann, O. (2002). Understanding interdependencies: stakeholder identification and negotiation for collective natural resource management. *Agricultural Systems* 73:41–56.
- Reno, R. R., Cialdini, R. B., & Kallgren, C. A. (1993). The transsituational influence of social norms. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 64, 104–112.
- Requier, F., Fournier, A., Rome, Q., & Darrouzet, E. (2020). Science communication is needed to inform risk perception and action of stakeholders. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 257, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109983.

- Ricciardi, A., & Ryan, R. (2018). The exponential growth of invasive species denialism. *Biological Invasions*, 20, 549-553.
- Rimal, R. N., & Real, K. (2003). Understanding the influence of perceived norms on behaviors. *Communication Theory*, 13, 184–203.
- Rittel, H., & Webber, M.M. (1973). Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. *Policy Sciences* 4: 155–169. doi: 10.1007/BF01405730
- Roberts, M., Cresswell, W., & Hanley, N. (2018). Prioritising invasive species control actions:
 Evaluating effectiveness, costs, willingness to pay and social acceptance. *Ecological Economics*, 152(October 2017), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.05.027
- Rosaen, A. L., Grover, E. A., & Spencer, C. W. (2016). The Costs of Aquatic Invasive Species to Great Lakes States (p. 51). Anderson Economic Group.
- Rose, K. M., Howell, E. L., Su, L. Y. F., Xenos, M. A., Brossard, D., & Scheufele, D. A. (2019).
 Distinguishing scientific knowledge: The impact of different measures of knowledge on genetically modified food attitudes. *Public Understanding of Science*, 28(4), 449-467.
- Rotherham, I. D., & Lambert, R. A. (2012). Balancing species history, human culture and scientific insight: introduction and overview. In *Invasive and Introduced Plants and Animals* (pp. 19-34). Routledge.
- Rothlisberger, J. D., Chadderton, W. L., McNulty, J., & Lodge, D. M. (2010). Aquatic invasive species transport via trailered boats: what is being moved, who is moving it, and what can be done. *Fisheries*, 35(3), 121-132.
- Rovai, A. P., Baker, J. D., & Ponton, M. K. (2013). Social science research design and statistics: A practitioner's guide to research methods and IBM SPSS. Watertree Press LLC.

- Russell, J. C., & Blackburn, T. M. (2017). The rise of invasive species denialism. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 32(1), 3-6.
- Schlaepfer, M. A., Sax, D. F., & Olden, J. D. (2011). The potential conservation value of nonnative species. *Conservation Biology*, 25(3), 428-437.
- Schreck Reis, C., Marchante, H., Freitas, H., & Marchante, E. (2013). Public Perception of Invasive Plant Species: Assessing the impact of workshop activities to promote young students' awareness. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(4), 690-712.
- Schroeder, S. A., & Fulton, D. C. (2013). Public lakes, private lakeshore: modeling protection of native aquatic plants. *Environmental Management*, 52(1), 99-112.
- Schultz, R., & Dibble, E. (2012). Effects of invasive macrophytes on freshwater fish and macroinvertebrate communities: the role of invasive plant traits. *Hydrobiologia*, 684(1), 1-14.
- Schultz, P. W., & Zelezny, L. (2003). Reframing environmental messages to be congruent with American values. *Human Ecology Review*, 126-136.
- Schwartz, S. H. & Bilsky, W. (1990) Toward a theory of the universal content and structure of values: extensions and cross-cultural replications, *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58, 878–891
- Seekamp, E., McCreary, A., Mayer, J., Zack, S., Charlebois, P., & Pasternak, L. (2016) Exploring the efficacy of an aquatic invasive species prevention campaign among water recreationists. *Biological Invasions* 18(6):1745–1758
- Seidl, D. E., & Klepeis, P. (2011). Human Dimensions of Earthworm Invasion in the Adirondack State Park. *Human Ecology*, 39(5), 641–655. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-011-9422-y

- Selge, S., & Fischer, A. (2011). How people familiarize themselves with complex ecological concepts-anchoring of social representations of invasive non-native species. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 21(4), 297–311.
- Shackleton, C.M., McGarry, D., Fourie S., Gambiza J., Shackleton S.E., & Fabricius, C. (2007). Assessing the effects of invasive alien species on rural livelihoods: Case examples and a framework from South Africa. *Human Ecology* 35(1): 113–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745- 006-9095-0.
- Shackleton, C. M., & Shackleton, R. T. (2016). Knowledge, perceptions and willingness to control designated invasive tree species in urban household gardens in South Africa. *Biological Invasions*, 18(6), 1599-1609.
- Shackleton, R. T., Richards, D. M., Shackleton., C. M., Bennett, B., Crowley, S. L., Dehnen-Schmutz, K., Estévez, R. A., Fisher, A., Kueffer, C., Kull, C. A., Marchante, E., Novoa, A., Potgieter, L. J., Vaas, J., Vaz, A. S., & Larson, B. M. H. (2019). Explaining people's perceptions of invasive alien species: A conceptual framework. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 226, 10-26.
- Sharp, R. L., Larson, L. R., & Green, G. T. (2011). Factors influencing public preferences for invasive alien species management. *Biological Conservation*, 144(8), 2097-2104.
- Shaw, B., Campbell, T. & Radler, B.T. Testing Emphasis Message Frames and Metaphors on Social Media to Engage Boaters to Learn about Preventing the Spread of Zebra Mussels. *Environmental Management* (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-021-01506-6

Sherif, M. (1936). The psychology of social norms. Harper.

Siegrist, M., Gutscher, H., & Earle, T. C. (2005). Perception of risk: the influence of general trust, and general confidence. *Journal of Risk Research*, 8(2), 145-156.

- Simberloff, D. (2003). Confronting introduced species: a form of xenophobia? *Biological Invasions*, 5, 179-192.
- Simberloff, D. (2011). The rise of modern invasion biology and American attitudes towards introduced species. In: Rotherham ID, Lambert, R.A. (Eds) Invasive and introduced plants and animals: Human perceptions, attitudes, and approaches to management. Earthscan, London, 121–135
- Simon, H.A., (1965). Administrative Behavior: A Study of Decision-Making Processes in Administrative Organization. Free Press, New York, Originally published in 1947.
- Simpson, B., & Willer, R. (2014). Beyond altruism: sociological foundations of cooperation and prosocial behavior. *Annual Review of Sociology* 41 (1):150504162558008. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-073014-112242
- Smith, C. S., & Barko, J. W. (1990). Ecology of Eurasian watermilfoil. In *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* (Vol. 28).
- Stolle, D., Hooghe, M., & Micheletti, M. (2005). Politics in the supermarket: Political consumerism as a form of political participation. *International Political Science Review*, 26, 245-269.
- Stoutenborough, J.W., & Vedlitz, A. (2016) The role of scientific knowledge in the public's perceptions of energy technology risks. *Energy Policy* 96: 206–216.
- Stradling, S. G., Meadows, M. L. & Beatty, S. (1999) Factors affecting car use choices: Transport Research Institute (Napier University).
- Sturgis, P.J. & Allum, N.C. (2000) "The Impact of Knowledge on Attitudes toward
 Biotechnology: Using Regression Models to Simulate a Better-informed Public," Paper
 presented at the British Psychological Society (Social Psychology Section), Nottingham.

- Sturgis, P.J. & Allum, N.C. (2001) "Gender Differences in Scientific Knowledge and Attitudes toward Science: Reply to Hayes and Tariq," *Public Understanding of Science* 10(4): 427–30.
- Terry, D, J., & Hogg, M, A. (1996) Group norms and the attitude-behavior relationship: a role for group identification. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 22:776–793
- Vander Zanden, M. J., Hansen, G. J. A., Higgins, S. N., & Kornis, M. S. (2010). A pound of prevention, plus a pound of cure: Early detection and eradication of invasive species in the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 36(1), 199–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2009.11.002
- Van der Werff, E., Steg, L., & Keizer, K. (2011). Values, environmental identity, and proenvironmental behaviour. IAREP 2011.
- van Eeden, L. M., Slagle, K., Crowther, M. S., Dickman, C. R., & Newsome, T. M. (2020). Linking social identity, risk perception, and behavioral psychology to understand predator management by livestock producers. *Restoration Ecology*, 28(4), 902–910. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13154
- Venette, R. C., Gordon, D. R., Juzwik, J., Koch, F. H., Liebhold, A. M., Peterson, R. K., Sing,
 S.E. & Yemshanov, D. (2021). Early Intervention Strategies for Invasive Species
 Management: Connections Between Risk Assessment, Prevention Efforts, Eradication,
 and Other Rapid Responses. In *Invasive Species in Forests and Rangelands of the United States* (pp. 111-131). Springer, Cham
- Verbrugge, L. N., Van den Born, R. J., & Lenders, H. R. (2013). Exploring public perception of non-native species from a visions of nature perspective. *Environmental Management*, 52(6), 1562-1573.

- Vilà, M., Basnou, C., Pyšek, P., Josefsson, M., Genovesi, P., Gollasch, S., Nentwig, W., Olenin, S., Roques, A., Roy, D., & Hulme, P. E. (2010). How well do we understand the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European, cross-taxa assessment. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8(3), 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1890/080083
- Vitousek, P. M., C. M. D'Antonio, L. L. Loope, & R. Westbrooks. 1996. Biological invasions as global environmental change. *American Scientist* 84:468-478.
- Wald, D. M., Nelson, K. A., Gawel, A. M., & Rogers, H. S. (2019). The role of trust in public attitudes toward invasive species management on Guam: a case study. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 229, 133-144.
- Wallen, K.E, & Kyle, G.G.T (2018). The efficacy of message frames on recreational boater's aquatic invasive species mitigation behavioral intentions. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*. 23:297-312.
- Wagner, K. I., Hauxwell, J., Rasmussen, P. W., Koshere, F., Toshner, P., Aron, K., Helsel, D. R., Toshner, S., Provost, S., Gansberg, M., Masterson, J., & Warwick, S. (2007). Whole-lake herbicide treatments for Eurasian watermilfoil in four Wisconsin lakes: effects on vegetation and water clarity. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, 23(1), 83-94.
- Walsh, J.R., Carpenter, S. R., & Vander Zanden, M. J. (2016). Invasive species triggers a massive loss of ecosystem services through a trophic cascade. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(15), 4081-4085.
- Walsh, J. R., Lathrop, R. C., & Vander Zanden, M. J. (2017). Invasive invertebrate predator,
 Bythotrephes longimanus, reverses trophic cascade in a north-temperate lake. *Limnology* and Oceanography, 62(6), 2498-2509.

- Webster, C. R., Jenkins, M. A., & Jose, S. (2006). Woody invaders and the challenges they pose to forest ecosystems in the eastern United States. *Journal of Forestry*, *104*(7), 366-374.
- Warziniack, T., Haight, R.G., Yemshanov, D., Apriesnig, J.L., Holmes, T.P., Countrymen, A.M., Rothlisberger, J.D., & Haberland, C. (2021). Economics of Invasive Species. In Poland, T. M., Patel-Weynand, T., Finch, D. M., Miniat, C. F., Hayes, D. C., & Lopez, V. M. (Eds.). (2021). Invasive Species in Forests and Rangelands of the United States: A Comprehensive Science Synthesis for the United States Forest Sector. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45367-1
- Williamson M, Fitter A (1996) The varying success of invaders. Ecology 77:1661–1666

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. (2023). Control Methods. https://dnr.wisconsin.gov/topic/Invasives/control.html

- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. (2023). Why We Should Care About Invasives. https://dnr.wisconsin.gov/topic/Invasives/care.html#ref
- Witzling, L., Shaw, B.R., & Amato, M.S. (2015). Incorporating information exposure into a theory of planned behavior model to enrich understanding of proenvironmental behavior. *Science Communication*, 37(5), 551-574. doi: 10.1177/1075547015593085
- Witzling, L., Shaw, B., & Seiler, D. (2016). Segmenting boaters based on level of transience: outreach and policy implications for the prevention of aquatic invasive species. *Biological Invasions*, 18(12), 3635-3646.
- Wolsko, C. (2017). Expanding the range of environmental values: Political orientation, moral foundations, and the common ingroup. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 51, 284-294.

- Wolsko, C., Ariceaga, H., & Seiden, J. (2016). Red, white and blue enough to be green: Effects of moral framing on climate change attitudes and conservation behaviors. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 65, 7-19.
- Woodford, D.J., Richardson, D.M., MacIsaac, H.J., Mandrak, N.E., van Wilgen, B.W., Wilson, J.R., & Weyl, O.L. (2016). Confronting the wicked problem of managing biological invasions. *NeoBiota*, 31(4): 63. https://doi.org/10.3897/neobiota.31.10038
- Yung, L., Chandler, J., & Haverhals, M. (2015). Effective weed management, collective action, and landownership change in western Montana. *Invasive Plant Science and Management* 8:193–202.
- Zhang, C., & Boyle, K. J. (2010). The effect of an aquatic invasive species (Eurasian watermilfoil) on lakefront property values. *Ecological Economics*, 70(2), 394-404.
- United States Department of Agriculture. (2023). Control Mechanisms. https://www.invasivespeciesinfo.gov/subject/controlmechanisms#:~:text=The%20most%20economical%20and%20safest%20way%20to%20 manage,may%20be%20subject%20to%20control%20and%20management%20efforts.
- U.S. Department of State. (2001). *Case Study: Water Hyacinth*. Retrieved from https://2001-2009.state.gov/g/oes/ocns/inv/cs/2299.htm

Table 1: Hierarchical Multiple regression model predicting support for chemical treatment approach (standardized coefficients)										
	Zero Order	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6			
	correlations									
Block 1 - Demographics										
Age	.066	.093	.074*	.072	.068	.067	.059			
Education	.046	.038	.078	.066	.045	.044	.052			
Incremental R2 (%)		.009								
Block 2 – Political Orientation										
Ideology - Social	.135*		.176**	.176**	.150**	.152**	.160**			
Ideology- Economic	.077		.053	.053	.063	.065	.074			
Incremental R2 (%)			.044***							
Block 3 – Familiarity										
Perceived AIS Familiarity	.92*			.143***	.066	.065	.062			
Incremental R2 (%)				.020***						
Block 4 – Perception of AIS in										
Lake										
Perceived AIS Impact	.015				059	058	033			
AIS in Lake $=$ Yes	.284***				.324***	.324***	.279***			
AIS in Lake = Don't Know	.136*				.097	.097	.084			
Incremental R2 (%)					.065***					
Block 5 - Trust										
Trust in Scientists	.008					.009	.020			
Incremental R2 (%)						.000				
Block 6 - Emotions										
Negative Affect	.156***						.131**			
Incremental R2 (%)							.015***			
Total adjusted R2 (%)							13.9			
*p < .05, ** p < .01 *** P < .001	1									

Appendix A: Standardized Regression Coefficients for Chapter 2

124

Block 1 - Demographics Age.057Education.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 2 - Political OrientationEconomic Ideology.088Social Ideology.135*Incremental R^2 (%)Block 3 - AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS Familiarity.039Incremental R^2 (%)Block 4 - Presence of AIS inlakeAIS in lake = Yes.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 5 - Perceived Presenceof AIS in lake	.082 .056 .005	.067 .093* .090 .151** .049	.058 .076 .084 .162** .129** .063	.059 .068 .072 .156** .126**	.053 .063 .086 .140** .080	.057 .067 .088 .135* .039
Age.057Education.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 2 – Political OrientationEconomic Ideology.088Social Ideology.135*Incremental R^2 (%)Block 3 – AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS Familiarity.039Incremental R^2 (%)Block 4 – Presence of AIS inlakeAIS in lake = Yes.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 5 – Perceived Presenceof AIS in lake	.082 .056 .005	.067 .093* .090 .151** .049	.058 .076 .084 .162** .129** .063	.059 .068 .072 .156** .126**	.053 .063 .086 .140** .080	.057 .067 .088 .135* .039
Education.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 2 – Political OrientationEconomic Ideology.088Social Ideology.135*Incremental R^2 (%)Block 3 – AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS Familiarity.039Incremental R^2 (%)Block 4 – Presence of AIS inlake.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 5 – Perceived Presence	.056 .005	.093* .090 .151** .049	.076 .084 .162** .129** .063	.068 .072 .156** .126**	.063 .086 .140** .080	.067 .088 .135* .039
Incremental R^2 (%)Block 2 – Political OrientationEconomic Ideology.088Social Ideology.135*Incremental R^2 (%)Block 3 – AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS Familiarity.039Incremental R^2 (%)Block 4 – Presence of AIS inlakeAIS in lake = Yes.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 5 – Perceived Presenceof AIS in lake	.005	.090 .151** .049	.084 .162** .129** .063	.072 .156** .126**	.086 .140** .080	.088 .135* .039
Block 2 – Political OrientationEconomic Ideology.088Social Ideology.135*Incremental R^2 (%)Block 3 – AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS Familiarity.039Incremental R^2 (%)Block 4 – Presence of AIS inlakeAIS in lake = Yes.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 5 – Perceived Presenceof AIS in lake		.090 .151** .049	.084 .162** .129** .063	.072 .156** .126**	.086 .140** .080	.088 .135* .039
Economic Ideology.088Social Ideology.135*Incremental R^2 (%)Block 3 – AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS Familiarity.039Incremental R^2 (%)Block 4 – Presence of AIS inlakeAIS in lake = Yes.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 5 – Perceived Presenceof AIS in lake		.090 .151** .049	.084 .162** .129** .063	.072 .156** .126**	.086 .140** .080	.088 .135* .039
Social Ideology.135*Incremental R^2 (%)Block 3 – AIS FamiliarityPerceived AIS Familiarity.039Incremental R^2 (%)Block 4 – Presence of AIS inBlock 4 – Presence of AIS in.067Incremental R^2 (%)Block 5 – Perceived Presenceof AIS in lake.067		.151** .049	.162** .129** .063	.156** .126**	.140**	.135* .039
Incremental R^2 (%) Block 3 – AIS Familiarity Perceived AIS Familiarity .039 Incremental R^2 (%) Block 4 – Presence of AIS in lake AIS in lake = Yes .067 Incremental R^2 (%) Block 5 – Perceived Presence of AIS in lake		.049	.129** .063	.126**	.080	.039
Block 3 – AIS Familiarity Perceived AIS Familiarity Incremental R^2 (%).039Block 4 – Presence of AIS in lake AIS in lake = Yes Incremental R^2 (%).067Block 5 – Perceived Presence of AIS in lake.067			.129** .063	.126**	.080	.039
Perceived AIS Familiarity.039Incremental R^2 (%)Block 4 – Presence of AIS inBlock 4 – Presence of AIS inIncremental R^2 (%)Block 5 – Perceived Presence.067of AIS in lakeIncremental R^2 (%)			.129** .063	.126**	.080	.039
Incremental R^2 (%) Block 4 – Presence of AIS in lake AIS in lake = Yes .067 Incremental R^2 (%) Block 5 – Perceived Presence of AIS in lake			.063			
Block 4 – Presence of AIS in lake AIS in lake = Yes .067 Incremental R^2 (%) Block 5 – Perceived Presence of AIS in lake						
lake AIS in lake = Yes .067 Incremental R^2 (%) Block 5 – Perceived Presence of AIS in lake						
AIS in lake = Yes .067 Incremental R^2 (%) Block 5 – Perceived Presence of AIS in lake						
Incremental R^2 (%) Block 5 – Perceived Presence of AIS in lake				.155***	.069	.067
Block 5 – Perceived Presence of AIS in lake				.086		
of AIS in lake						
Perceived presence of AIS .254***					.255***	.254***
= YES						
Perceived presence of AIS .091					.083	.091
= Don't know						
Incremental R^2 (%)					.115	
Block 6 – Perceived						
Knowledge						
Perceived knowledge of .062						.062
AIS Management						
Incremental R^2 (%)						.115
Total adjusted R^2 (%)						11.5

Appendix B: Standardized Regression Coefficients for Chapter 3